
                                                   

 
 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE  

 
 

5 September 2023 
 

7.00 pm 
 

Annexe, Watford 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact 
 
Barry Rennick 
democraticservices@watford.gov.uk  
01923 278323 
 
For further information about attending meetings please visit the council’s website. 
 
 

Publication date: 25 August 2023 
 

mailto:legalanddemocratic@watford.gov.uk
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20017/councillors_and_decision_making/163/can_i_attend_a_committee


 

 

Committee Membership 
 
Councillor P Jeffree (Chair) 
Councillor R Martins (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors N Bell, J Pattinson, A Saffery, G Saffery, R Smith, S Trebar and M Watkin 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A – Open to the Public 
 

CONDUCT OF THE MEETING 

The committee will take items in the following order: 
 

1. All items where people wish to speak and have registered with Democratic 
Services. 

2. Any remaining items the committee agrees can be determined without further 
debate. 

3. Those applications which the committee wishes to discuss in detail. 

1. Apologies for absence  
 
2. Disclosure of interests  
 
3. Minutes  
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 2023 to be submitted and signed. 

 
4. 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB 

(Pages 5 - 100) 
 
 

http://watford.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=292&Year=0


 

 

 
Introduction 
 
Please note that the officer report is a summary of the issues including representations 
made and consultation responses. Full details of the applications, plans submitted, 
supporting information and documents, representations made, consultation responses 
and correspondence can be found on the council’s web based Public Access system using 
the application reference or address.  
Specific policy considerations for each application are detailed within the individual 
reports.  The background papers and policy framework listed below have been relied upon 
in the preparation of the reports in this agenda. 
 
Background papers 
 

 The current planning applications under consideration and correspondence related 
to that application.  

 All relevant third party representations and consultation replies received.  
 
Policy Framework 
 

 The Statutory Plans and Supplementary Planning Guidance, together with relevant 
Government legislation, Circulars, Advice, Orders, Directions and Guidance listed 
below:  

 
Local Planning Documents 
 
Local Development Documents provide the framework for making planning decisions. 
These can be found on the Council’s website and include: 
 

 The Watford Local Plan 2021-2038 (adopted 17 October 2022); and 

 Supplementary Planning Documents. 
 
County Planning Documents 
 
The Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan and Minerals Local Plan prepared by Hertfordshire 
County Council are material considerations alongside the Watford Local Plan.  These 
documents can be found on the county council’s website. 
 
National Planning Documents 
 
Key legislation can be found using this weblink, including: 
 

 Growth and Infrastructure Act (2013) 

 Housing and Planning Act (2016) 

 Localism Act (2011) and subsequent amendments  

http://pa.watford.gov.uk/publicaccess/
https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20168/planning_policy
http://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


 

 

 Planning Act (2008) and subsequent amendments 

 Planning and Compulsory Planning Act (2004) and subsequent amendments 

 Town and Country Planning Act (1990) and subsequent amendments 

 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and 
subsequent amendments. 

 
National guidance can be found on the government service and information website, 
including: 
 

 National Planning Policy Framework (revised July 2021) and supporting Technical 
Guidance  

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (web based) 

 Planning policy for traveller sites  

 Relevant government circulars  

 Relevant Ministerial Statements (which will be referred to in the individual reports 
as necessary) 

 
Section 106 Planning obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
 
The Council introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) with effect from 1 April 
2015.  The CIL charge covers a wide range of infrastructure as set out in the Council’s 
Regulation 123 list, including highways and transport improvements, education provision, 
youth facilities, childcare facilities, children’s play space, adult care services, open space 
and sports facilities.  CIL is chargeable on the relevant net additional floorspace created by 
the development.  The charge is non-negotiable and is calculated at the time that planning 
permission is granted where relevant.  Section 106 planning obligations can only be used 
to secure affordable housing provision and other site specific requirements, such as the 
removal of entitlement to parking permits in Controlled Parking Zones and the provision of 
off-site highways works. 
 
Human Rights implications 
 
The Local Planning Authority is justified in interfering with the applicant’s human rights in 
order to alleviate any adverse effect on adjoining properties and their occupiers and on 
general public amenity.  This may take the form of conditions or planning obligations on 
any grant of planning permission or, in some cases, a refusal of planning permission. With 
regard to any infringement of third party human rights, where these are not considered to 
be of such a nature and degree as to override the human rights of the applicant the refusal 
of planning permission may not be warranted. 

http://www.gov.uk/


Committee date Tuesday, 5 September 2023 

Application reference 
Site address 

21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage 
Road Watford WD18 0HB 

Proposal Outline application with all matters reserved for 
demolition of hospital buildings and construction of an 
Emergency Care hospital (Use Class C2), with up to 1,000 
beds and up to 120,000m2 floorspace, an energy centre, 
and ancillary retail units, including associated access and 
landscape improvements 

Applicant West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

Agent BDP 

Type of Application Major Outline Application 

Reason for 
committee Item 

Major Outline Application 

Target decision date 15th September 2023 

Statutory publicity Site notice, paper advertisement and neighbour letters 

Case officer Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk 

Ward Vicarage  

 
1. Recommendation 
 

That planning permission be granted subject to the completion of a planning 
agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure 
the provisions of the s.106 Heads of Terms and subject to the conditions as 
detailed in section 5 of the report. 
 

2. Background 
 

2.1 The application was submitted on 25th May 2021 and considered in respect of 
the Development Plan of that time, consisting of the ‘saved’ policies of the 
Watford District Plan 2000 and the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31. 
The Development Management Committee of 27th July 2021 resolved to grant 
outline planning permission for the development subject to conditions and to 
the completion of a s.106 agreement to secure the agreed s.106 Heads of 
Terms. The s.106 agreement has been delayed in finalisation with matters 
needing resolution between the applicants and Hertfordshire County Council. 
The application has therefore not been formally decided.  

 
2.2  The Watford Local Plan 2021-2038 was adopted on 17 October 2022. The new 

Watford Local Plan therefore now forms part of the Development Plan and 
supersedes the ‘saved’ policies of the Watford District Plan 2000 and the 
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31.  

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2.3 The proposed development and the full consideration of the application, 
including details of the site and surroundings, relevant planning history, the 
proposals and summaries of consultation are unchanged from those detailed 
in the report of 27th July 2021 to the Committee (Appendix 1). The purpose of 
this report is to consider any variation to the appraisal of the development 
proposals in response to the new policies and designations of the Watford 
Local Plan 2021-2038.  

 
3. Appraisal  
 
3.1 The substantive matters of the appraisal are unchanged from those 

considered as the main considerations in section 6 of the report of 27th July 
2021 to Committee where the policy approach of the Watford Local Plan is 
similar to that of the superseded policies. The areas of new policy matters are 
considered below.  

 
3.2 Principle of Development and Land Use  

The Watford Local Plan includes the site within the Core Development Area as 
part of the Colne Valley Strategic Development Area identified under Policy 
CDA 2.3. The Colne Valley Strategic Development Area is designated to 
facilitate transformative and co-ordinated change around the River Colne, 
Lower High Street and the area of the Watford General Hospital, producing a 
sustainable and mixed-use urban quarter of high quality design and place-
making, excellent connectivity and a diverse range of uses. The site is also 
allocated for mixed use development under site allocation MU20 for mixed 
use development within the Core Development Area to include a hospital.  

 
3.3 The proposed development for the redevelopment of the existing Watford 

General Hospital to provide modern, integrated and co-ordinated facilities 
would be fully in accordance with objectives of Policy CDA 2.3 and site 
allocation MU20.   

 
3.4 Human health 

Watford Local Plan Policy HC12.2 (Health Impact Assessments) introduces a 
requirement for all locally significant infrastructure projects to be supported 
by a Health Impact Assessment. As well as securing the public health benefits 
associated with the provision of high-quality hospital facilities, the 
development also includes a Health Impact Assessment which is to be secured 
by condition to afford additional benefits.  

 
3.5 Height, scale and design 
 Policies QD6.1 (Design for an Attractive Town), QD6.2 (Design Principles) and 

QD6.4 (Building Design)  continue the local level requirement for high quality 

Page 6



design and state that proposals must ‘enhance the positive and improve the 
negative qualities of the area’. Policy QD6.5 (Building Height) relates to 
building height and, where development is proposed over the specified ‘base’ 
building height of an area,  it must meet a series of specific requirements for 
taller buildings within Watford, stating that proposals must demonstrate, 
amongst other criteria: significant public benefits which would not be 
achievable as part of a development restricted to the ‘base’ building height, a 
clear townscape rationale, a positive relationship with relevant heritage 
assets, and a desire to achieve a specific skyline shape or cluster. The policy 
also notes that proposals for tall buildings are unlikely to be accepted in 
outline form. 

 
3.6 The proposed Maximum Height Parameters allow for a hospital building of up 

to 17 storeys or 82 metres tall, and therefore exceeds the taller building ‘base’ 
building height for this area set by Policy QD6.5. The previous submission 
demonstrated how the proposals had been developed with specific reference 
to policy requirements for taller buildings including in respect of townscape 
impact, impact on key views and impact on the setting of heritage assets. It is 
also considered that the height proposed is necessary to consolidate hospital 
services onto the parcel of land available and in doing so achieve significant 
public benefits associated with the provision of healthcare facilities that a 
lower-rise building would not be able to provide. The parameter plans and 
Design Code would also allow for outstanding design in respect of the building 
and public realm. The proposals would therefore fulfil the policy objectives of 
Policy QD6.5 in relation to height.  

 
3.7 While Policy QD6.5 states that proposals for tall buildings are unlikely to be 

accepted in outline form, in this instance, the Design Code provides a robust 
set of design principles for future Reserved Matters applications to follow. The 
outline form for the development is also supported in this instance due to the 
significant infrastructure opportunity and public benefit secured under the 
development. It remains a material planning consideration that the 
application was submitted prior to the adoption of the new Local Plan and 
therefore it is considered reasonable to accept the proposal in outline form 
under the exceptional circumstances of this particular case. 

 
3.8 Training, skills and professional development  
 Policy EM4.6 (Training, skills and professional development) states that the 

Council will use planning obligations to require major developments to 
provide appropriate employment and training opportunities for local people. 
The policy introduces a new requirement for relevant proposals to submit a 
training skills and employment strategy. This is agreed to be included in the 

Page 7



section 106 agreement and will ensure that the development is fully 
compliant with Policy EM4.6.  

 
3.9 Transport  
 The new Local Plan continues the emphasis set by both national policy and the 

previous Local Plan on the provision of sustainable transport opportunities set 
out in policies ST11.1 (Sustainable Travel Town), Policy ST11.3 (Providing 
Sustainable Transport Infrastructure for Major Development), Policy ST11.4 (A 
Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Improvement Town) and Policy ST11.6 
(Managing the Transport Impacts of Development). 

 
3.10 The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment detailing the 

transport strategy and potential highways impacts of the development. The 
Transport Assessment confirms that the hospital will not lead to a material 
increase in traffic, and sets out the range of measures and initiatives proposed 
to encourage walking and cycling, as secured through the submitted 
Framework Travel Plan. Further improvements to bus infrastructure is also to 
be secured under the s.106 agreement. The transport approach therefore fully 
aligns with the policy objectives of the new Local Plan.  

 
3.11 Energy and Sustainability   

In accordance with the new Local Plan objective to address climate change 
and reduce carbon emissions (Strategic Policy S1.1: Spatial Strategy), Policy 
CC8.1 (Mitigating Climate Change and Reducing Carbon Emissions) states that 
new development must demonstrate how it is contributing towards a carbon 
neutral Watford through submission of a Sustainability Statement. Policy 
CC8.2 (Sustainable Construction Standards for non-residential development) 
states that proposals will be supported where they can demonstrate efficient 
use of resources as part of construction and operation, with major 
developments expected to achieve BREEAM Excellent standard. Policy CC8.3 
(Sustainable Construction and Resource Management) additionally requires 
that proposals should reflect the Hertfordshire Waste Hierarchy and 
demonstrate how they accord with the Hertfordshire Waste Local Plan.  
 

3.12 The submitted Sustainability Statement and Energy Statement already confirm 
that the all-electric energy solution proposed prioritises carbon reduction and 
adopts a net zero carbon approach, incorporating renewable energy 
generation. Initial assessment of the Indicative Scheme identifies that, as per 
Policy CC8.2, the proposals are on target to achieve BREEAM Excellent, and 
that future reserved matters applications should be fully capable of meeting 
this requirement.  
 

Page 8



3.13 As such, the proposals are considered fully compliant with the latest Local 
Plan energy and sustainability requirements. 

 
3.14 Ecology, Biodiversity and Trees  

Local Plan Policy NE9.1 (The Natural Environment) states that development 
proposals are required to demonstrate a positive impact on Watford’s natural 
environment, including achieving measurable biodiversity net gain. Policy 
NE9.8 (Biodiversity) provides further detail on this, confirming that in 
accordance with the forthcoming requirement set by the Environment Act 
2021, all proposals should seek to achieve 10% Biodiversity Net Gain and 
apply the mitigation hierarchy to minimise or mitigate any harmful effects on 
biodiversity. A proportionate ecological survey and assessment must be 
prepared. 

 
3.15 Ecology and tree matters are already supported by an Ecological Assessment 

and Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The Net Gain Metric calculations have 
now been submitted and show that the indicative scheme can achieve 13.61% 
Biodiversity Net Gain.  

 
3.16  As such, the proposal is considered to fully comply with the latest ecology  and 

biodiversity requirements.  
 
3.17  Flood Risk and Drainage  

Policies NE9.4 (Flood Risk and Mitigation) and NE9.5 (Surface Water 
Management) set out WBC’s latest requirements with respect to flood risk 
and drainage. Policy CDA2.1 (Colne Valley SDA) states that proposals will need 
to consider the cumulative impact of development, and ensure that mitigation 
measures do not conflict.  

 
3.18 The application is already accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment and 

Outline Drainage Strategy which demonstrated that the site has an 
acceptable, low residual likelihood of flooding and with mitigation can 
accommodate surface water runoff as required, targeting a greenfield runoff 
rate. Further detailed assessments and management plans will be provided at 
the reserved matters stage.  

 
3.19  As such, the proposal is considered to fully comply with the latest flood risk 

and drainage policy requirements.  
 
4. Conclusion  

 
4.1 The proposed development, as set out within the unchanged Parameter Plans 

and Design Code remains in accordance with national planning policy and the 

Page 9



new Watford Local Plan 2021-2038 and is recommended for approval. The 
recommended s.106 Heads of Terms and conditions have been updated to 
reflect the Watford Local Plan 2021-2038.  

 
5. Recommendation 

  
That planning permission be granted subject to the completion of a planning 
agreement under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the 
provisions of the updated s.106 Heads of Terms and subject to the conditions as 
detailed below. 
 
 
Section 106 Heads of Terms  
 

i) To secure the provision and maintenance of a safe and direct 
pedestrian and cycle route from the north of the site to Vicarage Road 
at all times following occupation of the new hospital with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Details of 
this route shall include its position, width, surface finish, lighting, 
signage and any level changes; 
 

ii) To secure an updated Travel Plan and financial payment to 
Hertfordshire County Council of £6,000 for the long term monitoring of 
the Travel Plan for the site; 

 
iii) To secure a financial payment of £600,000 to Hertfordshire County 

Council towards bus services in the vicinity of the hospital; 
  

iv) To secure a financial payment of £250,000 to Hertfordshire County 
Council for the improvements along Thomas Sawyer Way;   

 
v) To secure a financial payment of £150,000 to Watford Borough Council 

for improvements to pedestrian and cycling routes to the hospital; 
 
vi) To secure the submission and implementation of an Employment and 

Training Plan to support training, skills and professional development of 
local people.  

 
Conditions  
 
1.   Reserved Matters 

Approval of the details of the following reserved matters shall be obtained 
from the Local Planning Authority before any development commences: 

Page 10



(a) appearance; (b) access; (c) landscaping; (d) layout; (e) scale. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Articles 6 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 2016, as amended. 

 
 
2.  Time Limit  

Application(s) for approval of the 'reserved matters' must be made not later 
than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. The 
development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 
in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
reserved matter to be approved. 
  
Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning 
permissions, to enable the Local Planning Authority to review the suitability of 
the development in the light of altered circumstances and to comply with the 
provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
3. Drawing Numbers 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings 
and documents unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The following drawings are hereby approved:   
 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03001- C01 Application and Ownership Boundary 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03002 - C01 Existing Site Block Plan 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22301 - C01 Existing Site Sections AA and BB 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22302 - C01 Existing Site Sections CC and DD 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20021 - C01 Site Plan - Proposed Demolitions 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20000 C01 - Parameter Plan- Development Plot 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20002 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Maximum Height  
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Access and 
Movement WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20004 - C01 - Parameter Plan - 
Frontages and Spaces 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00103 - Design Code 
 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
4. Surface Water Drainage Scheme 

No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been 

Page 11



submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface water run-off generated up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will not 
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details before the development is completed. A full 
detailed drainage design and surface water drainage assessment should 
include: 
  
1. A drainage strategy which includes a commitment to providing appropriate 
SuDS in line with the non-statutory national standards, industry best practice 
and HCC Guidance for SuDS.  
2. Full detailed design drainage plan including location of all the drainage 
features.  
3. Where infiltration is proposed, evidence of ground conditions/ underlying 
geology and permeability including BRE Digest 365 compliant infiltration tests.  
4. Detailed calculations of existing/proposed surface water storage volumes 
and flows with initial post development calculations and/or modelling in 
relation to surface water are to be carried out for all rainfall events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year including an allowance for climate change.  
5. Evidence that if the applicant is proposing to discharge to the local sewer 
network, they have confirmation from the relevant water company that they 
have the capacity to take the proposed volumes and run-off rates.  
6. Discharge from the site should be at an agreed rate with the water 
company. This should be at Greenfield run-off rate; technical justification will 
be needed if a different rate is to be used.  
7. An indicative maintenance plan detailing how the scheme shall be 
maintained and managed. 
 
Reason: A surface water drainage assessment is vital if the local planning 
authority is to make informed planning decisions. In the absence of an FRA / 
surface water drainage assessment, the flood risks resulting from the 
proposed development are unknown. This should be provided to prevent the 
increased risk of flooding, both on and off site. 

 
5.  Construction Environment Management plans 

No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
including elements of the CLOCS standards as set out in the Highway 
Authority’s Construction Management template. Thereafter the construction 
of the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Plan. The Construction Management Plan / Statement shall include details of: 
  

Page 12



a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  
b. Access arrangements to the site;  
c. Traffic management requirements  
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas);  
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities;  
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway;  
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of 
hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements;  
k. Phasing Plan. 
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 
22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
6.  Contamination remediation  

Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning 
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall 
each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority: 

 
i) A site investigation, based on the Ground Conditions and Contamination Risk 
Assessment prepared by GB Geotechnics Ltd (Report ref. WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-
RP-T-00116), to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site. This should include an 
assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, pests, woodland and service lines and 
pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments. 
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (i) and, based 
on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
iii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance 

Page 13



and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these components 
require the express consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors.  

 
7. Tree protection 

Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall be in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (Rev C02) and shall also include the following: 
  

i) Facilitation pruning details; 
ii) Underground services and drainage layout; and 
iii) General construction precautionary measures including detail of 
Tree Protection Plan 

 
The approved measures and details shall be installed and maintained 
throughout the development unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interest of tree protection pursuant toPolicy NE9.1 of the 
Watford Local Plan 2021-2038.. 
 

8. Fire Hydrants 
No construction works shall commence until a detailed scheme for the 
provision of mains water services to serve the development, including, where 
necessary, fire hydrants, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. No occupation of the development shall take 
place until the approved mains water scheme been provided in full. 
 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition in order to ensure adequate 
mains water services, and in particular fire hydrants, are provided to serve the 
development. 

 
9. Energy Statement 

i) Prior to the commencement of development, an Energy Statement in 
accordance with the targets and objectives set out in the Energy 

Page 14



Statement shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

ii) Prior to occupation, evidence demonstrating that the approved 
measures have been implemented, together with detail of ongoing 
management and maintenance to ensure the measures continue to 
achieve the predicted CO2 emissions reduction shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to minimising the effects of, 
and can adapt to, a changing climate. 

 
10. Sustainability Statement 

Prior to commencement of development, a Sustainability Statement based on 
the Sustainability Statement submitted, shall be submitted for approval in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed 
in full accordance with the approved Sustainability Statement prior to 
occupation.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the 
effects of, and can adapt to, a changing climate. 

 
11. Slow-worm Translocation 

Prior to commencement of development within the donor area indicated in 
‘Slow Worm Translocation Strategy V01’ drawing, the Translocation Strategy 
for slow-worms as detailed in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment Rev C02 
[WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00112] shall be implemented.  
 
Reason: In order to prevent the inadvertent killing of slow‐worms of which 
there was one found under the Preliminary Ecological Assessment.  

 
12.  Bat survey  

If the proposed demolition of the existing buildings or felling of identified 
trees has not been carried out before the end of April 2022 a further Bat 
Survey shall be undertaken and submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the development. The Bat 
survey shall consist of a Preliminary Roost Assessment and Emergence/Re‐
entry Survey undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist.  

 
Reason: The bat survey is valid for 12 months as detailed in the Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment.  

 
13.  Compliance Statement 

Page 15



All Reserved Matters applications shall be accompanied by a Compliance 
Statement to demonstrate compliance of the Reserved Matters applications 
with the outline permission and shall include to following details: 
 
i) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Parameters Plans 
ii) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Design Code 
iii) Detail if and why there are any instances where the Reserved Matters 

application deviates from the Indicative Scheme of section 5.2 of the 
Design and Access Statement for the outline application  

 
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the compliance of the 
Reserved Matters applications as being in accordance with the approved 
Parameter Plans and Design Code.  
 

14. Maximum Heights  
All Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the approved Parameter 
Plan for Maximum Height as follows: 
 
i) No part of the building, with the exception of flues and roof top plant, 

shall exceed the maximum heights of the development as detailed in 
the Maximum Height Parameter Plan; 

ii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approves an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +150m AOD for up to 60% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +112m AOD; and 

iii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approved an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +112m AOD for up to 75% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +90m AOD. 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt in respect of the maximum building 
heights approved. 

 
15.  Appearance  

Any application in respect of reserved matter (a) ‘Appearance’ shall include 
details of all matters of appearance including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
 
i) All plant and equipment including gas storage, roof plant, PV, cleaning 

cradles, lift overruns, railing, flues, vents and telecommunication equipment 
and any associated mitigation to avoid noise impacts; 

ii) Bridge links which shall have a transparency of 60-80% on elevations; 

Page 16



iii) Entrances and Active Frontages, as identified on the Parameter Plan for 
Frontages and Spaces, to include shopfronts and direct accesses to ancillary 
retail units; 

iv) How the design of the building responds to micro-climate issues such as 
wind and sun, including any screening or mitigation to prevent adverse wind 
impact or overheating 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt in respect of the details required. 

 
16. Landscaping 

Any application in respect of reserved matter (c) ‘Landscaping’ shall include 
details of all matters of site landscaping including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
 
i) Access arrangements for public and non-public spaces; 
ii) Access, landscaping and management of roof terraces and podiums;  
iii) How the landscaping design responds to micro-climate issues such as wind 

or shading, including any mitigation; 
iv) Location and detail of all public seating and seating associated to the 

ancillary retail uses including microclimate mitigation for these areas 
including screens, shelters or heating; 

v) Location and detail of public art; 
vi) Site wide scheme of wayfinding; and 
vii) External lighting scheme. 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt in respect of the details required. 

 
17. Final ground and floor levels 

Details of the proposed finished floor levels of all buildings and the finished 
ground levels of the site, in relation to existing site levels of surrounding 
property shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority with the submission of any reserved matters application. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
levels.  
 
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at suitable levels having 
regard to the scale of the development. 
 

18. Contamination verification  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and 

Page 17



maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to 
exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be 
implemented. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors. 

 
19. Foul Water- Thames Water 

The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been provided 
that either:- 1.  All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate 
the additional flows from the development have been completed; or- 2.  A 
development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority to allow development to be occupied.  Where a 
development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall 
take place other than in accordance with the agreed development and 
infrastructure phasing plan.   
 
Reason: Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to 
accommodate the proposed development 

 
20. BREEAM Excellent 

Within 6 months of first occupation the final post construction BREEAM 
certificate(s) indicating that a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating has been achieved 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development incorporates sustainable design and 
construction methodology as detailed in the application documents.   

 
21. Travel Plan 

At least 3 months prior to the first occupation or use of the approved 
development a detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained 
therein and shall continue to be implemented unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy 
ST11.1 of the Watford Local Plan 2021-2038. 

 

Page 18



22.  Accesses installed 
No part of the development shall be occupied until the new vehicular 
accesses, as shown in principle on Parameter Plan Connections and Access 
(WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01), have been laid out and constructed 
in accordance with the details to be approved under reserved matter (b) 
Access.  
 
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and pedestrians. 

 
23.  Surface Water Drainage Completion 

Upon completion of the drainage works, a management and maintenance 
plan for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management and 
maintenance plan shall include:  
 
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage 
layout for the site drainage network.  
2. Maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development.  
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 
Reasons: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory maintenance of the 
surface water network on the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the 
proposed development and future occupants. 

 
 

24.  Cycle Storage to be installed  
The cycle parking approved by any subsequent reserved matters application 
shall be installed and made available for use prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development and shall be retained at all times for cycle storage 
only and shall not be used for any other purpose.  
 
Reason: To ensure that secure and weatherproof cycle storage facilities are 
provided for future staff, patients and visitors in accordance Policy ST11.4 of 
the Watford Local Plan.  

 
25.  Car free Green Spine  

The Pedestrian Priority Route to the north east of the site, identified on the 
Connections and Access parameter Plan, and referred to as the ‘Green Spine’ 
in the Design Code, shall be ‘car-free’ and used only by pedestrians and cycles 
other than for maintenance and emergency vehicle access.  
 

Page 19



Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and pedestrians and to create a safe public space. 

 
26.  Soft Landscaping carried out 

The soft landscaping scheme to be approved under reserved matter (c) 
Landscaping shall be carried out as approved not later than the first available 
planting and seeding season after completion of the development. Any trees 
or plants whether new or existing which within a period of five years die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, or in accordance 
with details approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance and ecology of the site in 
accordance with Policies QD6.2, QD6.3 and NE9.1 of the Watford Local Plan 
2021-2038. 
 

27.  Unexpected contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
Condition 6, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of Condition 6, which is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with Condition 6. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors. 

 
28. Materials Panel 

Construction of the superstructure shall not commence until: 
 
a) Full details of the materials to be used for all the external surfaces have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
and  
b) Sample panels have been constructed on site to show the typical facades 
including panelling, window frames and glazing, and have made available for 
inspection and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 20



 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and the 
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy QD6.4 of the 
Watford Local Plan 2021-2038. 
 

29.  Access 
No development shall commence until full details (in the form of scaled plans 
and / or written specifications) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following:  
 
i) Roads, footways.  
ii) Cycleways.  
iii) Foul and surface water drainage. 
iv) Visibility splay  
v) Access arrangements  
vi) Parking provision.  
vii) Loading areas.  
viii) Turning areas.  
 
Reason: To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of 
the site. 

 
30. Vehicular access 

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted the 
vehicular access shall be completed and thereafter retained as shown on 
drawing number(s) (20175/019 Rev A, 20175/026 Rev C, 20175/027 Rev A and 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00_DR-T-20140 Rev C01) in accordance with 
details/specifications to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Prior to use appropriate arrangements shall be made for 
surface water to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not 
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of 
extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway. 

 
31.  General Vehicle Through Route Closure  

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted 
general vehicle through routes via the hospital between Vicarage Road, 
Willow Lane and Thomas Sawyer Way will be closed to general traffic.  
 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety and amenity. 

 

Page 21



 
Informatives 

 
IN912 Hours of Construction 
IN913 Community Infrastructure Levy Liability 
IN914 Section 106 Undertaking  
IN907 Consideration of proposal in a positive and proactive manner 
IN915 Highway Works – HCC agreement required 
 
 

Page 22



Committee date Tuesday, 27 July 2021 

Application reference 
Site address 

21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road 
Watford WD18 0HB 

Proposal Outline application with all matters reserved for demolition 
of hospital buildings and construction of an Emergency Care 
hospital (Use Class C2), with up to 1,000 beds and up to 
120,000m2 floorspace, an energy centre, and ancillary retail 
units,  including associated access and landscape 
improvements 

Applicant West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust 

Agent BDP  

Type of Application Major Outline Application 

Reason for 
committee Item 

Major Outline Application  

Target decision date 24.08.2021 

Statutory publicity Site notice, paper advertisement and neighbour letters 

Case officer Alice Reade, alice.reade@watford.gov.uk 

Ward Vicarage 

 
1.  Recommendation 
 

a. Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of negotiations to secure further 
sustainable transport measures under s106 by no later than 27th October 
2021 Outline Planning Permission be granted subject to the conditions and 
S106 heads of terms detailed in section 8 of the report.  
 

b. That the Head of Planning and Development be given delegated authority 
in consultation with the Chair of Development Management and the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning to conclude the negotiations and agree the 
further sustainable transport measures to be included in the s106. 

 

c. In the event that the further sustainable transport measures have not been 
agreed by 27th October 2021 that Outline Planning Permission be refused 
for the reason that the development would not include sustainable 
transport measures to support future staff, patients and visitors and would 
have an unacceptable highway impact, contrary to paragraphs 108, 109 
and 110 of the NPPF, Policy 5 of Hertfordshire County Council’s Local 
Transport Plan 2018-2031 and  policies T3 and T5 of the Watford Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
2.  Site and surroundings 
 
2.1 Application Site  

Page 23



The 3.67 hectare application site is located within the southern part of the 
existing Watford General Hospital (WGH) site in the west of Watford. The site 
includes a number of existing hospital buildings ranging from two to four 
storeys in height and comprising surge units, Ambulatory Care Unit (ACU), 
Cytology, Pathology, NEQAS, Boiler House and Estates. The majority of the 
application site comprises WGH visitor pay and display car park and staff 
overflow car park. The site also includes part of the recently consented Multi-
Storey Car Park (MSCP) to the east. 

 
2.2  The application site includes significant typography changes with ground 

levels falling from the north to the south by approximately 10m across the 
site, including a section of approximately 1:12 fall in the centre of the site.   

 

 
 Figure 1: Application site boundary (Figure 2.1 of Planning Statement) 
 
2.3 Existing Watford General Hospital Site   

The application site, outlined in red on figure 1 above, is part of the wider site 
owned by the West Herts Hospital NHS Trust, as outlined in blue, and 
currently comprises the buildings of Watford General Hospital. The full 
existing hospital site is approximately 7.5 hectares in area comprising 
62,000sqm (GIA) of clinical and non-clinical uses located across eighteen 
buildings.  

 

Page 24



2.4 Buildings on site vary from two to seven storeys in height. With the exception 
of the Grade II Listed Administration building at the north of the WGH site, the 
buildings are considered to be of limited architectural interest or value and it 
is noted from the submission that the buildings and landscaped areas of the 
site are in poor condition aesthetically and operationally.  
 

2.5 Public vehicular access to the site is from Vicarage Road to the north and from 
Thomas Sawyer Way to the South. Ambulance access is via a restricted section 
of road between Thomas Sawyer Way and Willow Lane to the west. The 
existing site contains 723 car parking spaces with an additional 888 car parking 
spaces on the Cardiff Road site / overflow parking areas beyond the existing 
site (1,611 existing car parking spaces total). 

 
2.6 Surroundings  
 North  

Immediately to the north and north-west of the application site are the 
existing WGH buildings, including the Grade II Listed Administration block to 
the north. Vicarage Road to the northeast of the existing hospital includes 
predominantly two storey Victorian terraced housing including on its southern 
side backing onto the existing hospital site. On the opposite side of Vicarage 
Road to the north is ‘The Square’ Conservation Area. The north east of the 
existing hospital campus is bound by the Watford Football Club Stadium and 
associated residential units (Stadium Way) to the south of the stadium.  

 
2.7 East  

To the immediate east of the application site is the consented Multi-Storey 
Car Park (MSCP) which is currently under construction to provide 1290 
hospital parking spaces for staff, patients and visitors and is to replace the 
existing on-site parking. Also to the east is the recently consented residential 
development of known as ‘The Avenues’ and further land forming part of the 
wider Riverwell regeneration project with planned future mixed use 
development to include a primary school.  

 
2.8 South 

Immediately to the south of the application site is Thomas Sawyer Way. 
Beyond this the typography continues down to the River Colne  and 
residential developments including the ‘Mayfield’ retirement village and 
‘Waterside’ flatted developments of up to 10 storeys in height.  

 
2.9 West  

To the south-west of the site is the restricted section of Thomas Sawyer Way 
(emergency vehicles and buses) which adjoins Willow Lane to the west and 

Page 25



access to the flatted development of ‘Woodlands’. Willow Lane and Rose 
Gardens to the north consist of 2 storey terraced and semi-detached housing.  

 
2.10 Site designations  

 The application site is subject to the following planning/technical 
designations:  

 Special Policy Area 3 (SPA3) of the Local Plan Core Strategy 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Part Inner (Zone 1) and Part Outer (Zone 2) Ground Water Source 
Protection area, designated by the Environment Agency  

 
2.11 The site is also subject to the following designations within the Final Draft 

Local Plan: 

 Core Strategic Development Area (CDA2.3 Colne Valley)  

 Allocated Mixed Use Site (MU21 - Land at Riverwell)  

 Transport Improvement Area 
 
2.12 No part of the application site is occupied by designated or non-designated 

heritage assets.  
 
3.  Summary of the proposal 
 
3.1 Proposal 
 
3.2 The application seeks outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for 

demolition of existing hospital buildings and construction of an Emergency 
Care hospital (Use Class C2), with up to 1,000 beds and up to 120,000m2  
floorspace, an energy centre, and ancillary retail units, including associated 
access and landscape improvements. The anticipated staff number is c.2,700, 
approximately 500 more than existing.  

 
3.3 As an outline application with all matters reserved, the application only seeks 

approval for the principle of the development within the parameters and 
principles  as defined in the 2 ‘control documents’ as follows: 

 Parameter Plans- Set the maximum building footprint, maximum building 
heights, site access, pedestrian routes, hierarchy of building frontages and 
minimum public space provisions  

 Design Code – Provides a detailed set of design principles that are to be 
applied to the development  

 
3.4 The four Parameter Plans proposed are: 

 Development Plot (WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20000 - C01) 

 Maximum Height (WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20002 - C01) 

Page 26



 Access and Movement (WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01) 

 Frontages and Space (WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20004 - C01) 
 
3.5 The Parameter Plans and Design Code are accompanied by a suite of 

supporting reports and indicative plans for the scheme and illustrative plans 
for the wider masterplan area as follows: 

 Indicative Hospital Plans and Sections 

 Illustrative Masterplan  

 Planning Statement 

 Design and Access Statement 

 Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

 Transport Assessment 

 Framework Travel Plan 

 Framework Construction Management Plan 

 Framework Delivery and Servicing Plan 

 Sustainability Statement 

 Energy Statement 

 Flood Risk Assessment and Outline Drainage Strategy 

 Preliminary Ecological Assessment 

 Utilities Assessment 

 Air Quality Assessment 

 Noise Statement 

 Ground Conditions and Contamination Risk Assessment 

 Statement of Community Involvement 

 Archaeological Desk Based Assessment 

 Arboricultural Survey and Impact Assessment  

 Pedestrian Level Wind Microclimate Assessment 

 Framework Car Park Management Plan 
 
3.6 The plans, drawings and graphics of the ‘Indicative Scheme’ and ‘Illustrative 

Masterplan’ are not themselves for approval. These are indicative only to 
illustrate an indicative development achievable within the Parameter Plans 
and Design Code proposed.  

 
3.7 The final development design matters are reserved for later determination in 

respect of: 

 Appearance - the aspects of the development which determine the 
visual impression the development makes, including the external built 
form of the development, its architecture, materials, decoration, 
lighting, colour and texture;   

 Access - the accessibility to and within the site for vehicles, cycles and 
pedestrians in terms of the positioning and treatment of access and 

Page 27



circulation routes and how these fit into the surrounding highway 
network;  

 Landscaping - the treatment of land other than buildings for the 
purpose of enhancing or protecting the amenities of the site and the 
area in which it is situated, including soft and hard landscaping, 
earthworks, public art and boundary treatment; 

 Layout - the way in which buildings, routes and open spaces within the 
development are provided, situated and orientated in relation to each 
other and to buildings and spaces outside the development; and 

 Scale - the height, width and length of each part of the building 
proposed within the development in relation to its surroundings. 

 
3.8 Accordingly, outline planning permission may be understood as determining 

the principle for granting permission  with the detail being assessed through 
the five reserved matters, together with any conditions and s106 obligations 
attached to the permission, and within the limitations of the two ‘control 
documents’.  

 
3.9 A Screening Opinion request for the proposed development was submitted in 

accordance with Regulation 6 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The Councils response, 
dated 27th May 2021, determined that an Environmental Impact Assessment 
was not required for the development in accordance with the aforementioned 
legislation.  

 
3.10 Conclusion 
  
3.11 The application has been submitted in outline form with all matters reserved 

for subsequent approval. The application therefore seeks approval for the 
principle of the development, in accordance with the Parameter Plans and 
Design Code, and with additional information provided in the illustrative 
scheme and supporting documents. A detailed scheme will be required to be 
submitted in a future reserved matters application to include final details of 
(a) appearance; (b) access; (c) landscaping; (d) layout and (e) scale. 

 
3.12  The proposed development of the hospital on this site, with ancillary retail 

and infrastructure, is as designated in local policy for this area including SPA 3 
of the Core Strategy.  Acknowledging that the existing hospital is lacking in its 
amenity, access and clinical quality, the principle of new healthcare 
development on this site is fully in accordance with local and national planning 
policy to support healthcare needs of Watford and wider communities 
including paragraphs 11 and 92b of the NPPF, Watford District Plan ‘saved’ 

Page 28



Policy CS9 (Health Provision) and Core Strategy Policy SS1, Special Policy Area 
3 (SPA3) and Strategic Objective 4.  

 
3.13 As well as providing clinical and healthcare enhancements, as set out within 

the Parameter Plans and Design Code, the development will see significant 
improvement to the existing site in respect of layout, connectivity, design, 
public realm, landscaping and environment. The building, of up to 16-17 
storeys (up to 82.46m above ground) would be notable in height to achieve 
the floorspace required for the new acute hospital within the site area 
available. This approach is, however, justified by the high quality strategy 
relating to height, massing and design as set out in the Design Code and 
further justified in respect of the very significant public benefit it provides for 
residents of Watford and South-west Hertfordshire. The height and design will 
also have merit in creating visibility to the important civic building within the 
new urban quarter of the town and within the wider townscape, whilst not 
creating harm to sensitive or heritage views. The indicative scheme and design 
principles have been well received by the Watford Place Making Panel at two 
design review sessions, the reports of which are annexed to this report. The 
envisaged scale and design of the development and the layout and principles 
for the public realm and surrounding spaces are therefore found to be in 
accordance with paras 91, 122, 124 and 127 of the NPPF, Policy UD1 of the 
Core Strategy and Draft Policies QD6.1 (Design for an Attractive Town), QD6.2 
(Design Principles), QD6.3 (Public Realm), QD6.4 (Building Design) and QD6.5 
(Building Height) of the Final Draft Local Plan. 

 
3.14 The new access arrangements divert traffic from Vicarage Road to the purpose 

built new hospital road to the south, Thomas Sawyer Way. These changes 
would not create adverse impact to the highway network in respect of 
increased traffic or local junctions. The new hospital would be served by the 
provision of 1694 car parking spaces, including in the new adjacent Multi 
Storey Car Park. The development includes some enhancements to the 
sustainable transport options for the site and wider area, improving 
connectivity, accessibility and infrastructure, however minimising the need for 
further car parking seeks to effect a change in travel behaviour away from 
private vehicles to healthy and sustainable travel modes. The sustainable 
transport principles for cycling, walking and public transport are welcomed 
however improvements to these routes are required to support the transport 
strategy of the development. Negotiations of these improvements is ongoing 
between the applicant, WBC and HCC and the recommendation reflects this 
position.  Subject to the securing of appropriate transport improvements to 
support the development, the development would be fully in accordance with 
the sustainable transport and highways objectives of paragraphs 108, 109 and 
110 of the NPPF, Policy 5 of Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport 

Page 29



Plan 2018-2031, Policies T2, T3 and T5 of the Core Strategy and Chapter 11 
and Policy ST11.3  of the Final Draft Local Plan.  

 
3.15 As detailed in the supporting information, the proposed development would 

not give rise to adverse environmental impacts within the site, or surrounding 
residential areas. The development would secure notable environmental 
benefits in respect of biodiversity, energy and sustainability improvements 
with a welcomed predicted score of BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standard. 
Operationally, the proposals would allow for the existing hospital to continue 
whilst construction of the new hospital is undertaken. Measures to consider 
and mitigate impacts of the construction to the staff, patients and visitors of 
the existing hospital are included and secured by condition. The development 
can therefore be secured to be in accordance with the environmental 
objectives of the NPPF, Chapters SD1 and SD 3 of the Core Strategy and 
Chapter 8 of the Final Draft Local Plan.  

  
3.16 The proposed development, as set out within the Parameter Plans and Design 

Code, is found to be in accordance with local and national planning policy and 
is recommended for approval. It is noted that the outline permission provides 
some flexibility for the final design of the scheme, however, the Design Code 
secures the principles to achieve high quality design in respect of the layout, 
massing, design and access. A robust set of conditions secure full details, 
implementation and delivery of key elements of the scheme and the S106 
heads of terms secure other measures for improvements and mitigation to 
secure a successful and high quality new hospital development.   

 
4.  Relevant policies 

 
4.1 Members should refer to the background papers attached to the agenda.  

These highlight the policy framework under which this application is 
determined.  Specific policy considerations with regard to this particular 
application are detailed in the appraisal of the main considerations in section 
6 below.  

 
5.  Relevant site history/background information  
 
5.1 The parcel of land to which this application relates forms part of the wider 

Watford Riverwell site (formally known as Watford Heath Campus) and is 
included within Special Policy Area SPA3 of the Core Strategy.  
 

5.2 On 6th January 2015, a hybrid planning application for the new Health 
Campus masterplan (excluding the former allotment site) was approved as 
follows: 

Page 30



 
Ref. 14/00511/OUTM – Hybrid planning application for the development of a 
mixed-use health campus accessed from the approved access road 
comprising: 

1. Outline element for the construction of new hospital/healthcare 
accommodation (circa 40,000m2) together with business, retail, office, 
food and drink, hotel, and leisure uses, and up to 681 new dwellings, 
safeguarding of land for the expansion of Laurance Haines primary 
school, new public spaces, play space and landscaping, associated car 
parking, access roads, footways and cycleways.  
2. Detailed element (business area south) for the construction of three 
industrial business units together associated vehicle and cycle parking, 
site landscaping and the creation of a new wildlife area. 

 
5.3 The approved outline permission was not implemented and proposals for 

different parts of the area have proceeded under independent full planning 
applications. 

 
6.  Main considerations 
 
6.1 As an outline application with all matters reserved, the application does not 

propose a fully detailed development for full planning permission. The 
proposed extent of the development is, however, detailed within the 
application description, Parameter Plans and Design Code and is assessed 
accordingly.  

 
6.2 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are: 
 

(a) Land Use  
(b) Scale and Design 
(c) Public Realm 
(d) Highways and Transport 
(e) Environmental Considerations 

 
6.3 (a) Land Use 
 
6.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets a presumption in favour 

of sustainable development (paragraph 11) with a core principle to ‘support 
strong, vibrant, healthy communities’ (paragraph 8b). Paragraph 92b of the 
NPPF states that proposals should take into account and support the delivery 
of local strategies to improve health. National level planning policy therefore 
strongly supports the principle of health related development.  

 

Page 31



6.5 At the local level, District Plan ‘saved’ Policy CS9 (Health Provision) states that 
development proposals providing health care facilities will be acceptable in 
principle where they are to be located on ‘existing sites or adjacent to existing 
premises providing health care or social services’.  

 
6.6 Strategic Objective 4 of the Core Strategy seeks to improve the health and 

wellbeing of Watford’s residents by making improvements to Watford General 
Hospital, providing an enhanced range of medical and health facilities, and 
enhancing access to healthcare. This is reinforced in Policy SS1 (Spatial 
Strategy), which sets out the key spatial objectives for the borough, and 
designates the Health Campus Special Policy Area (SPA3) for a mix of uses 
including a new hospital and local shops.  

 
6.7 Policy SPA3 itself designates the area for a major mixed use development 

project providing a new quarter for west Watford, with a significantly 
enhanced new major acute hospital providing new facilities for staff and 
patients identified as the catalyst. Policy SPA3 also identifies a requirement for 
local shops to serve the needs of the healthcare development and support the 
surrounding area and residential quarter. 

 
6.8 It is further noted that the previous outline application (ref 14/00511/OUTM) 

approved January 2015, included outline planning consent for a hospital 
redevelopment at this site, further establishing the principle for the 
development now proposed. 

 
6.9 The proposed development of the hospital on this site, with ancillary retail 

and infrastructure, is fully in accordance with national and local policy for 
healthcare provision. The land use is the envisaged development for this area 
as designated in local policy for this area including Policy SPA 3 of the Core 
Strategy and Policy CDA2.3 (Colne Valley Strategic Development Area) of the 
Final Draft Local Plan.  Acknowledging that the existing hospital is lacking in its 
amenity, access and clinical quality, the principle of new healthcare 
development on this site is strongly supported in local and national planning 
policy to support healthcare needs of Watford and wider communities in 
South-west Hertfordshire.  

 
6.10 (b) Scale and Design 
 
6.11 At the national level, NPPF Paragraph 124 states that the ‘creation of high 

quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve’. Paragraph 122 of the NPPF states that 
decisions should support development to make efficient use of land whilst 

Page 32



taking into account the securing of well-designed, attractive and healthy 
places. 

 
6.12 Locally, Policy UD1 of the Core Strategy sets out criteria to consider in 

achieving high quality design for new development and states that 
development should create high quality new places and should respect and 
enhance the character of its area.  Draft Strategic Policies QD6.1 (Design for 
an Attractive Town), QD6.2 (Design Principles), QD6.4 (Building Design) and 
QD6.5 (Building Height) of the Final Draft Local Plan also continue the local 
level requirement for high quality design.  

 
6.13 Specific to the Health Campus site designation, Core Strategy Policy SPA3 

(Health Campus) states that new development should be of high quality 
design making the most of opportunities for energy conservation, renewable 
energy provision and water recycling. The Final Draft Local Plan Strategic 
Policy CDA2.3 (Colne Valley Strategic Development Area) designates the site 
to ‘facilitate transformative and co-ordinated change around the River Colne 
and Lower High Street area, producing a sustainable and mixed-use urban 
quarter of high quality design and place making, excellent connectivity and a 
diverse range of uses’.  

 
6.14 The submitted Parameters Plans allow for a hospital building of up to 17 

storeys or c.82 metres tall, within a footprint of 3.67 hectares, defining the 
maximum acceptable building envelope. The Height Parameter plan defines 
three levels as follows: 

 

 Northern building c.16-17 storeys, up to 82.46m above ground/+150m 
AOD 

 Southern building c.10-11 storeys, up to 57m above ground/+112 AOD 

 Western building c.6 storeys, up to 32.7m  above ground/+90 AOD 

 Cycle centre building c.4-5 storeys up to 22.5m above ground/+80 AOD 
 
6.15 Height and skyline  

The proposed development height would be a notable increase to that of the 
existing hospital buildings and to buildings in West Watford. It is, however, 
noted that this height is necessary to create the floorspace needed to 
consolidate hospital services onto the parcel of land available and to create an 
efficient and sustainable new hospital with the necessary clinical adjacencies. 
In general terms, the height and resultant prominence of the building is 
considered to be appropriate in principle, in recognition of the important civic 
nature of the building. With consideration to Draft Policy QD6.5 (Building 
Height) of the Final Draft Local Plan, it is considered that the height is justified 

Page 33



by the significant public benefits that the development will provide and other 
environmental and sustainability benefits it will secure.  

 
6.16 The Impact of the appreciably greater height for this site is considered in the 

submitted Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment. This study has identified 
key views in the townscape and has assessed the potential impact of a 
development of the maximum parameters and as shown in the Indicative 
Scheme as a reasonable worst case scenario. In sensitive townscape views, 
including views from the Square Conservation Area and in the setting of the 
Grade II Listed Administration block, the views show that the impact of the 
indicative development is negligible and there would be no harm to 
designated heritage assets. In some views and the townscape skyline the 
indicative development is seen to have some beneficial impact in 
corresponding and balancing the height of the Riverwell developments to the 
south and creating a landmark building and cluster. In some views, it is seen 
that the impact would be categorised as ‘moderately adverse’ including View 
6 – Jellicoe Road/Hodges Way and View 9 – Hampermill Lane. These views 
are, however, considered to be less sensitive with no key townscape role and 
containing no conservation areas or heritage assets. 

 
6.17 Overall, the Visual Impact Assessment identifies that the height approach is 

successful in locating height at the lowest level of the existing WGH site for its 
topographical capacity to absorb potential impact on townscape. The height 
creates benefits in many views in creating a focal building and in creating a 
cohesive skyline with the surrounding Riverwell developments. The 
Townscape Visual Impact Assessment also concludes that the design principles 
set in the Design Code will create an acceptable approach to the height and 
massing as mitigation to the height impact.  

 
6.18 The successful approach to the height is illustrated in the Maximum Building 

Height Sections of Figure 11 of the Design and Access Statement. Specifically 
that the maximum podium level height for the building (c.10-11 storeys) 
would correspond to the heights of Riverwell residential developments to the 
south. The stepping down of the western side of the building to c.6 storeys 
would relate to the lower height buildings to the west. The maximum 4 storey 
height for the cycle store building to the east would sit comfortably adjacent 
to Vicarage Road stadium and the MSCP. The upper point of the height in the 
northern section of the site would allow for future development on the 
existing WGH site to step down in height towards the 2 storey Vicarage Road 
context.  The arrangement of height and the linear arrangement of the three 
‘fingers’ would follow and articulate the topographical situation of the site 
and ‘face’ the building down to the Colne Valley.  

 

Page 34



6.19 Massing and Design Principles 
The height of the building within the maximum height parameters has been 
defined into appropriate massing as detailed in the control documents. The 
Maximum Height Parameter plan defines how much of each building (by 
percentage) can be up to the maximum height parameter for that section. The 
Design Code (section 5.2) defines the massing arrangements within that 
height. The scale and massing will be defined by splitting the north and south 
buildings into two distinct urban blocks separated by an urban street and 
connected by glazed bridge links at each level. On the northern building, the 
tallest elements will form 3 ‘fingers’ above the podium level linked by 
recessed and glazed bridges. To further reduce the perception of height and 
mass from the ground level, the building line will be set back at the podium 
level, and the finger blocks will be clearly articulated as separate elements, 
with varying heights to avoid the building appearing as a single mass.  

 
6.20 The further design principles of section 5.3 of the Design Code detail how the 

final design will achieve a high quality roofscape, with setbacks and design 
solutions for plant and flues. Section 5.4 details how the façade arrangement 
of the final design will include a ‘top, middle and bottom’ to further break 
down the massing of the building and follow good building design principles. 
The façade will include uniformity to the building along with vertical emphasis 
and detailing. The stated percentage ranges for glazing ensure that the 
facades would have the appropriate transparency, particularly at ground floor 
where active frontages are sought.  

 
6.21 The connections and entrances into the building are identified in the 

Parameter Plan for ‘Connections and Access’. The Parameter Plan for 
‘Frontages and Spaces’ sets the hierarchy for the building frontages. The key 
entrances to the building would be from the south from a car pick-up and put-
down area (PUDO) and from the east where an entrance will lead from the 
public realm into the ‘Hospital Street’ within the gap between the north and 
south buildings. Other entrances into and between buildings include via 
bridge links which are detailed in section 5.6 of the Design Code to have 
maximum transparency. 

 
6.22 The design principles for the two ground floor entrances are further defined in 

Section 5.5 of the Design Code to include legible entrance features, active 
ground floor uses and frontages. The detail is particularly important for the 
success for the PUDO entrance, which is within an undercroft area, to ensure 
this will be welcoming and legible as an entrance at all times. The role of 
active and secondary frontages of the buildings are detailed in section 5.5 to 
create positive interrelationships with the public realm.  

 

Page 35



6.23 In conclusion for matters of scale and design, it is found that the strategy for 
the massing and design of the development, as detailed in chapter 5 of the 
Design Code would offer a framework for a well designed and attractive civic 
building. Although the building would be a substantial and prominent building, 
this would be appropriate in respect of its impact to the skyline and 
townscape and would justified for the important civic nature of the building 
and to ensure it provides the significant public benefits of a new hospital. The 
principles for the design, including the approaches to massing definition, 
façade treatment and entrances would allow for a good relationship of the tall 
building with street level and the surrounding area. The principles of chapter 5 
of the Design Code would also secure a high quality of design required for a 
building of significant height and massing to ensure it is a positive addition to 
the site, surroundings and wider townscape. The indicative scheme and design 
principles have been well received by the Watford Place Making Panel at two 
design review sessions, the reports of which are annexed to this report. A 
development within the Parameter Plans and Design Code would be 
achievable as a high quality designed building compliant with paras 122 and 
124 of the NPPF, Policy UD1 of the Core Strategy and Draft Policies QD6.1 
(Design for an Attractive Town), QD6.2 (Design Principles), QD6.4 (Building 
Design) and QD6.5 (Building Height) of the Final Draft Local Plan.  

 
6.24 (c) Public Realm 
 
6.25 Paragraphs 91 and 127 of the NPPF require planning decisions to achieve 

accessible, inclusive and safe places. In delivering high quality design, Policy 
UD1 of the Core Strategy sets design principles for development including 
connectivity, ease of movement, legibility, flexibility, inclusive design and a 
high quality public realm for all users.  

 
6.26 Final Draft Local Plan Policies QD6.1 (Design for an Attractive Town), QD6.2 

(Design Principles) and QD6.3 (Public Realm) require proposals to provide a 
high quality public realm that is interesting and which people can easily 
interpret and use. Policy CDA2.3 (Colne Valley Strategic Development Area) 
designates the site to provide a sustainable and mixed-use urban quarter to 
include high quality place making and excellent connectivity.  

 
6.27 Building Access and Connectivity 

As detailed, the parameter plans for ‘Connection and Access’ and ‘Frontages 
and Spaces’ propose two access points areas into the buildings at ground floor 
being from the south, from the car pick up and drop off area (PUDO), and 
from the east into the enclosed ‘Hospital Street’. Bridge links also provide 
access directly from the MSCP into the buildings and a potential link to other 
hospital building to the north-west. The ground floor southern entrance would 

Page 36



be intuitively from the PUDO and allow direct access into the southern 
hospital building.  

 
6.28 The ground floor eastern entrance would be from a new pedestrian public 

route, designated in the parameter plans as running from the north-west to 
the south-east of the site and referred to as the ‘Green Spine’. As detailed in 
section 6.1 of the Design Code, this creates an important new route to access 
the hospital but also allow for wider connectivity between Vicarage Road and 
Thomas Sawyer Way.  

 
6.29 This connectivity of the eastern entrance to wider routes is, however, 

presented with a significant challenge in the ground level changes from north 
to south. Stepped access would be created in this area as it would not be 
possible to incorporate an accessible ramp without dominating the public 
realm, however, it is vital that step free access is also available for all users. 
Section 6.2 of the Design Code sets the key principle that 24 hour step free 
public access it to be created along this route. This is illustrated to be achieved 
through a ‘Board walk’ at the north of the site which links to the lift core of 
the MSCP at its north-west corner. This would then allow level access via a 
bridge link into the hospital or allow step free access via the lifts down to 
ground level of the Green Spine, level also with the eastern entrance to the 
Hospital. The lower gradient of the southern end of the ‘Green Spine’ would 
allow for a series of ramps in the landscaping to continue south. 

 
6.30  This arrangement for the northern area is not ideal and the approach to the 

board walk initially takes step-free users approaching the hospital away from 
its building and their destination. The route relies on a series of internal 
spaces to reach the entrance or to allow continuation of the journey south. It 
is, however, noted that this is a challenging route and gradient to resolve, 
particularly as the clinical need does not allow for an entrance into the 
northern corner of the hospital building. It is further noted that section 6.2 of 
the Design Code includes a series of design principles to define this route to 
be as legible and as intuitive as possible. The 24-hour access to the MSCP core 
is also recommended to be secured by condition on the outline permission to 
secure its role in the route.  

 
6.31 Fundamentally, it is considered that the proposed route serves as a significant 

improvement on the current situation where the gradient and surface 
conditions of the routes north/south across the site are unaccommodating for 
step free users. The strategy for the solution as detailed in the Parameter Plan 
and Design Code are therefore considered to create an appropriate solution 
for the site. 

 

Page 37



6.32  The connectivity of the route within the site is, however, constrained by the 
northern boundary of the application site which does not continue the route 
up to Vicarage Road which is a further distance of 140m to the north-west. 
This route is, however, critical to connect the ‘Green Spine’ route through the 
site to the wider area and create an accessible link to bus services and 
walking/cycling routes along Vicarage Road.  It is noted that this route may be 
intended to be retained and enhanced in future developments of the hospital 
land, however, it would be an essential requirement from first occupation of 
the new hospital. It is therefore recommended that this route is secured by 
S106 agreement to be retained for pedestrian and cycle access at all times, 
with details of the route to be provided and agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority. Whilst it is accepted that this route may be of a more temporary 
nature in the short-term, pending any future development of the remaining 
hospital land, it will need to be permanently secured as part of any future 
scheme. 

 
6.33 Within the parameter plans for ‘Connection and Access’ and ‘Frontages and 

Spaces’, additional connectivity is included for ambulance access and entrance 
to the east and servicing access and entrances to the south. These would be 
appropriately positioned in relation to the highway and building envelope to 
allow for functional use. The ‘Ambulance Street’ to the north would not seek 
to provide wider connectivity east to west, with public pedestrian movement 
discouraged, however, this route is not linking key destinations and the main 
desire lines along the ‘Green Spine’ and Willow Lane would be prevalent.  

 
6.34 Key Spaces 
 As detailed in the ‘Scale and Design’ section of this report, the principles for 

the building massing and design within chapter 5 of the Design Code seek to 
create a positive inter-relationship between the buildings and these new key 
spaces around them. Further detail of the principles for these spaces are 
detailed in chapter 6 of the Design Code and the series of key spaces are as 
follows: 

 

Page 38



 
 Figure 2: Key Spaces (Design Code, Figure 23)  
  
6.35 Northern Square 

The northern corner of the site will form the arrival area for pedestrians and 
cyclists arriving from the town centre and bus routes from the north, via 
Vicarage Road, with the northern corner of the building being a key focal point 
in the view down to the site and in this square. This corner of the hospital 
building is not shown to include an entrance and would not be an active 
frontage. It is, however, identified in section 5.5 of the Design Code to include 
visual interest and wayfinding. The landscaping of the route in accordance 
with section 6.2 of the Design Code would add to this legibility and waymark 
the route. This space also has great potential for further activation to its west, 
north and east as future phases of the hospital site come forward.    

 
6.36 Green Spine 

As detail in the section of ‘Building Access and Connectivity’ the ‘Green Spine’ 
is a critical functional route through the site and to the hospital and will be a 
significantly important element of new public realm.  Sections 5.5, 6.2, 6.3 and 
6.6 of the Design Code offer strong principles to ensure that this space is 
designed as a space which allows connectivity and also invites people to dwell 
within it. Opportunities for ‘spill out’ from the active frontage of the hospital 
will be included along with high quality hard and soft landscaping.  

 
6.37 The proposed bridge links across the ‘Green Spine’ from the MSCP would have 

the potential to dominate this space, block views and undermine legibility. 
The position of this link, to the north of the hospital entrance, is however, 

Page 39



secured within the Parameter Plan for ‘Connections and Access’ where the 
visual impact is minimised. Section 5.6 of the Design Code also sets clear 
principles for the transparency of the bridge links and a minimum height of 
5m clear of ground level. It is also noted that the functional element of this 
bridge link is intended to connect the MSCP directly to the Emergency 
Department and as such, the limited impact is considered justified.  

 
6.38 Hospital Street  

The gap between the north and south buildings will create an external but 
enclosed ‘Hospital Street’ to serve as an extended entrance sequence with 
circulation opportunities. The facades of the buildings and bridge links 
between them would create significant enclosure to this area, however, this 
also creates ‘protection’ for users as they circulate the hospital facility. The 
Parameter Plan for ‘Frontages and Space’ include active frontage within this 
area and the principles within sections 5.5 and 6.2 would secure a well 
designed space with shade tolerant planting. The route would not continue to 
the west, however, as it is not considered that this is required.  

 
6.39 PUDO Area   

The vehicle entrance to the PUDO is at the southern corner of the site, into a 
focal point of the building where it fronts the junction with Thomas Sawyer 
Way. The building would therefore create some legibility to this area. The 
requirement for surface access to sewers running across this section of the 
site does, however, necessitate a recessed ground floor with deep undercroft 
where the building extends over the vehicle access.. This recessed entrance at 
ground floor could potentially create a shaded and oppressive space with poor 
amenity. The Design Code for the building design (section 5.5) and the 
landscaping (section 6.2) set out a robust set of principles for the design of 
this space to include wide footways, active frontage, high quality lighting and 
clear legibility through soft and hard landscaping. This would therefore enable 
a welcoming and legible space and entrance sequence to be created. 

 
6.40 Thomas Sawyer Way Embankment 

The south west side of the building offers only a secondary frontage onto 
Thomas Sawyer Way and includes the facilities entrance to the building. The 
embankment along Thomas Sawyer Way will, however, create an opportunity 
for a ‘green buffer’ between the hospital and surrounding developments. As 
detailed in section 6.2 of the Design Code, the ground level changes, footpath 
and rich planting of this area will create significant amenity and biodiversity 
enhancements.   

 
6.41 Ambulance Street 

Page 40



As detailed in the ‘Building Access and Connectivity’ section, the ‘Ambulance 
Street’ is a functional space that is not intended to provide east to west 
connectivity. As detailed in section 6.2 of the Design Code, public pedestrian 
movement would discouraged. The landscaping design will need to clearly 
define the role of this space whilst also creating a well-designed, safe and 
amenable space for its function.  

 
6.42 Roof terraces 
 The creation of a series of roof terraces and podiums within the development 

create exciting opportunities for outdoor spaces for staff, patients and visitors 
to use and enjoy and which would secure the development vision of being a 
‘healing’ environment. As detailed in section 6.2 of the Design Code, the 
spaces will be accessible and visible from internal spaces. Set-backs from the 
building edge and wind mitigation measures will help to create comfortable 
and useable spaces.  

 
6.43 Landscaping 

Detailed matters for Landscaping are a reserved matter for later submission 
and assessment however the outline application includes a comprehensive 
indicative strategy for how this will be approached. Chapter 6 of the Design 
Code details high quality and well thought out design principles for the 
landscaping of the ‘Key Spaces and Public Realm’ of the scheme. Hard 
landscaping will include walkways, routes, public seating and areas for ‘spill 
out’ activities from the buildings. The landscaping will include permeable 
paving and create SUDs opportunities. Soft landscaping of trees, plants and 
lawns will be designed to create ‘character zones’ of the key spaces, 
significantly enhancing the amenity, ecology and biodiversity of the area. The 
use of public art, lighting, materials and furniture are detailed in sections 6.6, 
6.8 and 6.9 of the Design Code and will further add to the high quality, 
functionality and amenity of the new public realm. 

  
6.44 In conclusion, in respect of the public realm, it is identified that the spaces in 

and around the buildings, as shown in the parameter plans, create 
opportunities for high quality public realm to create positive, safe and well 
connected spaces. The creation of roof terraces within the development will 
further create exciting opportunities for high quality spaces for staff, patients 
and visitors to use and enjoy which would secure the development vision of 
being a ‘healing environment’.  The arrangements and principles set out for 
access, building design and landscaping in the Design Code seek to create well 
defined, legible and inclusive spaces for connectivity, and public use and 
enjoyment pursuant to Policy UD1 of the Core Strategy and Final Draft Local 
Plan Policies QD6.1, QD6.2, and QD6.3 . The critical new step free route from 
north to south, through the site and beyond, is secured within the Design 

Page 41



Code and through conditions and the S106. This significantly enhances the 
quality and legibility of this connection for the hospital and wider Riverwell 
area to the south, pursuant to Policy SPA3 of the Core Strategy and Policy 
CDA2.3 (Colne Valley Strategic Development Area) of the Final Draft Local 
Plan.  

 
6.45 (d) Highways and Transport 
 
6.46 At the national level, the NPPF paragraphs 108 and 110 require development 

to:  

 promote sustainable transport modes;  

 provide safe and suitable access for all users;  

 allow efficient delivery of goods and access by services and emergency 
vehicles;  

 ensure any new parking provision provides electric charging for vehicles; and  

 demonstrate that any impacts from the development on the transport 
network or highway safety can be mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

 
6.47 NPPF paragraph 109 further states that development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe. 

 
6.48  At the county level, Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 2018-

2031 (LTP4) (May, 2018) aligns with the requirements set at national level in 
the NPPF. 

 
6.49  Local level policies align with the national and county objectives, with Core 

Strategy Policy T2 (Location of New Development) requiring new development 
to be located in close proximity to sustainable transport nodes, and within 
400m of a bus stop where a frequent bus service operates. Core Strategy 
Policies T3 (Improving Accessibility) and T5 (Providing New Infrastructure) also 
require development to provide access for people with disabilities and to 
follow the sustainable transport modal hierarchy providing improved links 
with neighbourhood centres and the town centre. Chapter 11 of the Final 
Draft Local Plan sets out principles for achieving a sustainable transport town 
and Policy ST11.3 seeks for sustainable transport infrastructure for major 
development.  

 
6.50 Hertfordshire County Council’s Local Transport Plan 2018-2031 (LTP4) (May, 

2018) aligns with the objectives set out at national level in the NPPF. Policy 5 
(Development Management) also identifies that HCC would seek to secure 

Page 42



developer mitigation measures to limit impacts of development on the 
transport network. 

 
6.51 The Transport Assessment submitted with the application sets out an 

assessment of the current highway situation, details the transport strategy for 
the development, including in respect of access, car parking, trip generation 
and sustainable transport, and details the potential highway impacts of the 
development.  

 
6.52 Highway Impact  

As shown in the parameter plan for ‘Connections and Access’, vehicles will no 
longer access the site from Vicarage Road and instead the development 
approach relies on the new highway Thomas Sawyer Way and the 3 vehicular 
accesses indicated to the south and south east. Off the as yet unnamed road 
from Thomas Sawyer Way to the south-east, an access will lead to the PUDO. 
A separate access from the south will provide access to the facilities block. The 
existing roundabout between Thomas Sawyer Way and Willow Lane is to be a 
vehicle ‘blue-light’ access for ambulances. An additional 4th vehicular access is 
shown to the north, however, this is identified as being for ‘back up’ 
ambulance use only in an exceptional event when other highways are 
unavailable.  

 
6.53  As identified in the submitted Transport Assessment (TA), the loss of the 

existing vehicular route through the site and the changes to the traffic access 
from Vicarage Road to Thomas Sawyer Way would result in a slight re-
distribution of traffic on the local highway network. This redistribution of 
traffic has been assessed as part of this TA, which demonstrates that the 
proposed hospital would not result in material increase in traffic on local 
junctions, and in fact the new access arrangements would have the potential 
for the hospital to lessen its impacts on local junctions within and around 
Watford town centre (such as The Hornets Gyratory). 

 
6.54 Car Parking 

Due to the nature of the hospital use, there would be an expectation for many 
patients and visitors to arrive by car, as well as the need to provide staff car 
parking, in order to help accommodate shift working. Other than parking for 
ambulances, servicing and car pick up and drop off, the scheme is not to 
include additional on-site car parking. The hospital would have access to a 
total of 1694 car parking spaces available outside of the application site 
boundary as follows: 

 1290 car parking spaces within the consented MSCP allocated as: 
o 903 hospital staff parking spaces 
o 315 patient and visitor pay and display parking spaces 

Page 43



o 72 patient and visitor disabled parking spaces 

 404 existing car parking spaces to the north within the existing hospital 
estate for hospital staff use only. 

 
6.55 As identified in the TA, the car parking spaces adjacent to the site are as 

approved to serve the staff, patients and visitors of the existing 62,000sqm 
hospital. The proposed development would see an uplift of up to 58,000sqm 
to 120,000sqm (18,000 sqm more than previously consented), with the same 
car parking provision of 1694 spaces. Staff numbers are expected to increase 
from circa 2200 to circa 2700.  

 
6.56 The justification for this is that the hospital development is including an 

extensive strategy to improve sustainable transport options and reduce car 
reliance, as detailed in the Transport Assessment, Planning Statement, Design 
and Access Statement, Design Code, Framework Car Park Management Plan 
and Framework Travel Plan, to include: 

 

 Securing appropriate proportions of parking and disabled parking for staff 
and other visitors.  

 Evolving practices for staff home-working 

 Provision of cycle storage in accordance with emerging standards  

 Improved connection for pedestrians and cyclists within the site  

 Step free access through the site 

 High quality landscaped public spaces with wayfinding for pedestrians  
 
6.57 The development is therefore seeking to facilitate a shift in transport choices 

towards sustainable options and this is welcomed in accordance with the 
sustainable transport objectives of  local, county and national planning policy 
and to achieve the wide benefits for moderating and reducing car journeys for 
the new development including: 

 Reducing  traffic on surrounding roads 

 Freeing up land on site for other more valuable and sustainable 
developments 

 Reducing impacts to air and noise quality from cars on site 

 Wider environmental and health benefits.  
 

6.58 In their comments of 22nd June 2021, Hertfordshire County Council have 
raised concern to the approach to car parking to this stating: 

 
 “Whilst this is broadly welcomed by HCC in the interest of encouraging a 

modal shift through reducing trip end parking availability, which would be 
further encouraged through a Workplace Travel Plan, the council does not 
consider that suitable alternatives to the private car have been provided in the 

Page 44



last mile. Without which there is likely to be an unacceptable impact on 
parking within the surrounding streets.” 

 
6.59 The principle of key measures have been agreed between the Council and the 

applicants beyond the original submission and are to be included within the 
S106. Firstly, the connectivity of the site and ‘Green Spine’ within wider 
sustainable transport routes is to secured with the requirement for a 
pedestrian and cyclist route to be maintained from the north of the site up to 
Vicarage Road. As discussed in the ‘Building Access and Connectivity’ section 
of the report, it is critical that this route is available and maintained from the 
start of the occupation of the new hospital to allow for cyclist and pedestrian 
connectivity from the town centre and Vicarage Road bus stops down to the 
new hospital.  

 
6.60 Secondly all parties recognise the need for further sustainable transport 

improvements outside the immediate site to support the modal shift in 
transport required to support the development.  A number of these further 
potential options for sustainable transport improvements have been 
identified in the Transport Assessment. The comments from HCC do recognise 
that there are opportunities to improve the sustainable transport options 
stating: “The council is investigating opportunities for the improvement of the 
local cycle and bus networks and has identified a number of opportunities.”  

 
6.61 At the time of report publication, discussions in respect of these potential 

additional S106 matters are ongoing between HCC, WBC and the applicants. It 
is expected that members will be updated with the suggested Heads of Terms 
to secure improvements prior to the meeting however, should this not be 
finalised, the Head of Planning and Development requests delegated powers 
to conclude these negotiations, in consultation with the Chair of Development 
Management Committee and the Portfolio Holder for Place Shaping. It is 
identified that if an appropriate conclusion is not reached in respect of the 
sustainable transport improvements to support the development, that outline 
planning permission will be refused because of the lack of sustainable 
transport measures to support future staff, patients and visitors and the 
resultant unacceptable highway impact which would be contrary to 
paragraphs 108, 109 and 110 of the NPPF, Policy 5 of Hertfordshire County 
Council’s Local Transport Plan 2018-2031 and  policies T3 and T5 of the 
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
6.62 In respect of the other policy requirements, the maximum car parking 

standards of the Watford District Plan  (appendix A) state that Class C2 
hospitals should have a maximum of 1 space per 0.5 beds, or to be decided on 
individual merits (including a full transport assessment and proposals in a 

Page 45



green transport plan). With the intended provision of 1000 beds, the 
maximum car parking for the hospital should be 2000 spaces. The planned 
1694 spaces within the MSCP and on the existing hospital estate are therefore 
within the maximum standards for the new hospital and represent 85% of the 
maximum limit.  The provision is therefore compliant with the standards of 
the Watford District Plan. 

 
6.63 The Final Draft Local Plan does not include a maximum car parking 

requirement for Class C2 uses in its Appendix E and instead sets out 
sustainable transport objectives in Chapter 11. As already set out, the 
development includes substantive sustainable transport improvements.  

 
6.64 Ambulances and Servicing  

As identified within the ‘Access and Movement’ Parameter Plan, new 
dedicated access/egress points would be created from Thomas Sawyer Way at 
the south and east of the hospital. Subject to submission of full details, these 
would allow for appropriately positioned accesses and routes for ambulances 
and servicing vehicles.  

 
6.65 In conclusion, in respect of highway and transport matters, subject to 

appropriate mitigation to be agreed, the development would not create 
adverse impact to the highway network in respect of increased traffic overall 
or at local junctions. The development would include significant 
enhancements to the sustainable transport options for the site and wider 
area, improving connectivity, accessibility and infrastructure and avoiding the 
need for further additional car parking. A Framework Travel Plan has been 
included with the application and provides an indication of the principles that 
could be implemented to effect a change in travel behaviour and generate a 
modal shift from the use of private vehicles to healthy and sustainable travel 
modes. 

 
6.66 The sustainable transport principles for cycling, walking and public transport  

to be secured by condition and the further improvements to be secured by 
S106 would support this approach and are fully in accordance with the NPPF 
and Policies T3 and T5 of the Core Strategy and Policy ST11.3  of the Final 
Draft Local Plan.  

 
6.67  (e) Environmental Considerations 
 
6.68 The heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 

(paragraph 11) and states that environmental considerations must be made in 
respect of:  

 Creating safe, inclusive and accessible environments (para 127)  

Page 46



 Minimising energy consumption (para 153) 

 Sustainability and climate change impact (paras 150 and 170) 

 Flood risk assessment (para 163) 

 Sustainable drainage systems (para 165) 

 Ground conditions and contamination (para 178) 

 Natural environment, habitats and biodiversity (paras 170 and 175) 

 Air pollution (para 170) 

 Noise impacts (para 180) 
 

6.69 Core Strategy Policy SD1 (Sustainable Design) requires development to adhere 
to the Hertfordshire Building Futures Guide with measures to minimise use 
and consumption of energy. Core Strategy Policy SD3 (Climate Change) 
requires development to maximise energy efficiency and energy conservation 
in their design, layout and orientation, to reduce overall energy demand. 
Chapter 8 of the Final Draft Local Plan sets out the Council’s emerging strategy 
for responding to the Climate Emergency Declaration by the Council in July 
2019. 

 
6.70 Energy and Sustainability 

The Energy Statement includes an indicative energy strategy for the proposed 
development to comprise an all-electric energy solution. Photovoltaic 
generation is maximised and an all-electric solution for heating, cooling and 
domestic hot water is adopted using heat pump technology to capitalise on 
the falling carbon intensity of the UK national grid. This is considered to be a 
reasonable future scenario in alignment with the proposed Maximum 
Parameters and Design Code. Furthermore, it is noted from the submitted 
Sustainability Statement that an initial BREEAM assessment of 75.09% 
predicted score for the indicative scheme identified is on target to achieve the 
BREEAM Excellent standard score of 70-85%.  As such, the proposed 
development is considered to meet and exceed relevant policy and guidance 
on energy generation and consumption and site sustainability.  

 
6.71 Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage 

Given the site’s location within the Flood Zone 1, the sequential test and 
exception test for flood risk is not required. The submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) and Outline Drainage Strategy demonstrate that the site has 
low residual likelihood of flooding, and the proposed outline drainage 
measures can accommodate surface water runoff as required without 
increasing the risk of flooding elsewhere. The Design Code sets out positive 
principles to incorporate drainage within the detailed design. Further 
assessments and full details will be expected at reserved matters stage and 
are secured by conditions recommended by the Lead Local Flood Authority.  

 

Page 47



6.72 Ground Conditions and Land Contamination  
The submitted Phase 1 Ground Conditions and Contamination Risk 
Assessment indicate that the risks of contamination release by the 
development is likely to be low or negligible. Further investigations and any 
required remediation measures are secured by condition.  

  
6.73 Archaeology  

An Archaeological Desk Based Assessment details that the site does not 
contain any heritage or archaeological designations, the site is considered to 
have a low potential for all past periods of human activity and that previous 
archaeological investigations in the immediate vicinity have identified no 
remains of significance. Extensive past, post-depositional impacts across the 
site can be anticipated to have severely truncated/removed any 
archaeological remains that may once have been present. As a result, the 
proposed development is considered unlikely to have a negative 
archaeological impact and no further archaeological work is considered 
necessary. 

 
6.74 Ground water  

The site includes areas within Inner (Zone 1) and Outer (Zone 2) Ground 
Water Source Protection areas, designated by the Environment Agency. The 
Environment Agency have been consulted and have responded with standing 
advice in respect of ground water contamination, however, have not 
requested conditions to the permission.   

 
6.75 Trees 

The Arboricultural Survey and Impact Assessment identifies that the proposed 
development will require the removal of nine moderate quality trees, seven 
low quality trees and one low quality group, and one tree unsuitable for 
retention. The Indicative Scheme Landscape Plan and Design Code principles 
demonstrate the intended high quality landscaping and replacement of trees 
which will significantly enhance the treescape and amenity of the site and 
justify the loss of the 17 identified trees.  

 
6.76  Ecology 

A Preliminary Ecological Assessment has been undertaken and submitted. This 
finds that the application site is predominately hardstanding (car park) with 
the following habitats also present: amenity grassland, introduced shrub, 
scattered trees, scrub and buildings. All of the habitats within the site are 
common throughout the UK. No nationally rare or locally rare plant species 
were located during the site survey. There are no direct habitat linkages 
between the application site and any of the designated wildlife sites in the 
surrounding area.  

Page 48



 
6.77 The Preliminary Ecological Assessment has included a Preliminary Assessment 

and on site Emergency and Re-entry survey for Bats which has found no 
evidence of bats on site. The Reptile survey has, however, found one slow 
worm and a translocation strategy is secured by condition to ensure an 
ecologist finds and relocates this and any other slow worms.  

 
6.78 In respect of biodiversity, the Preliminary Ecological Assessment indicates that 

the development is on target to achieve 13.6% biodiversity net gains, in 
accordance with paragraph 170 of the NPPF and that any required mitigation 
measures will be implemented as part of the detailed design of the future 
reserved matters application. 

 
6.79  Wind and microclimate 

An outline Pedestrian Level Wind Microclimate Assessment has been 
undertaken in respect of a ’worst case scenario’ of development within the 
Parameter Plans and Design Code and assessed the cumulative potential 
impacts of the Watford Riverwell schemes. This identifies that the 
development would increase windiness to the south of the site and that there 
would be several thoroughfares entrances and terraces that would have 
windier than suitable conditions. The Design Code includes the recommended 
mitigation measures which will be incorporated into the future detailed 
design. 

 
6.80 Air Quality 

The Air Quality Assessment identified that the annual mean nitrogen dioxide 
and particulate matter concentrations across the site were below the national 
Air Quality Objectives for the proposed healthcare use. The site is therefore 
considered suitable for the proposed development without the 
implementation of protective mitigation techniques to protect future amenity.  

 
6.81 Predicted impacts on annual mean nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter 

concentrations as a result of operational phase exhaust emissions were 
predicted to be negligible at all 27 sensitive receptor locations within the 
vicinity of the site. There are no associated combustion processes proposed to 
impact air quality. As such, overall the potential air quality impacts of the 
proposed are determined as not significant. 

 
6.82 It is, however, identified that demolition and construction activities could 

create dust which would affect air quality of the existing hospital and 
neighbouring residential areas. Conditions are recommended to secure 
Environmental Management Plans for Demolition and Construction.  

 

Page 49



6.83 Noise  
As demonstrated in the Noise Statement, based on historic survey data, the 
proposed development will adhere to the set plant noise emissions. A full 
survey and Noise Impact Assessment is secured by condition in respect of the 
detailed scheme to be considered as part of the future reserved matters 
application. 

 
6.84  Light 

As detailed in the daylight and sunlight analysis undertaken on the Indicative 
Scheme and included in the Design and Access Statement, the location and 
orientation of the taller elements to the north of the site will minimise 
overshadowing into the development. Further sunlight and daylight analysis, 
overheating assessments (from solar gain) and analysis of light pollution are 
secured by condition in respect of the detailed scheme to be considered as 
part of the future reserved matters applications. 

 
6.85 In conclusion, for environmental matters, the proposed development would 

not be likely to give rise to adverse environmental impacts to the site, 
neighbouring existing hospital or surrounding residential properties. The 
development would secure notable environmental benefits in respect of 
biodiversity, energy and sustainability improvements with a welcomed 
predicted score of BREEAM ‘Excellent’ standard. Detailed matters in respect of 
a final scheme are secured by condition to ensure compliance with the NPPF, 
Policies SD1 and UD1 of the Core Strategy and Chapter 8 of the Final Draft 
Local Plan.  

 
7 Consultation responses received 
 
7.1 Statutory consultees and other organisations 
 

Name Comments  Actions  

Affinity Water  No response received   

Natural England No objection  Noted  

Clinical 
commissioning 
group- Herts 

No response received   

Health and Safety 
Executive, HM 
Government 

Response to advise that 
they did not require 
consultation and had no 
comments to make  

Noted  

Thames Water 
Utilities 

Additional information 
required in respect of foul 
water and sewer capacity 

Noted and foul water 
condition included in 

Page 50



and a condition is 
requested for this. No 
concerns or objections in 
respect of surface water 

recommendation as 
requested.  

Environment Agency Site is within water source 
protection zone. No 
capacity to provide further 
advice and standing advice 
provided.  

Noted.  

Crime Prevention 
Officer 

States that adequate 
security measures will be 
put in place and has no 
objections 

 Noted  

Watford Disability 
Forum  

No response received   

HCC Hertfordshire 
Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

Further information is 
required and conditions 
have been requested.  

Noted and surface 
water drainage 
conditions are included 
in recommendation. 

HCC Highways Comments for 22nd June 
2021 raised concerns in 
respect of: (a) Car parking 
provision not sufficient 
support by sustainable 
transport options  (b) More 
details needed in travel 
plan (c) Cyclist accidents 
and danger at Wiggenhall 
Road (A4178)/ Tom Sawyer 
Way junction  

As discussed in the 
‘Highways and 
Transport’ section of 
the report, there are 
ongoing discussions in 
respect of further 
sustainable transport 
improvements to 
support the 
development and car 
parking provision. 
Members will be 
updated on this prior 
to the meeting.  

HCC Growth and 
Infrastructure  

No comments in relation 
to financial contributions 
required by toolkit 
however Highways 
department may make 
request. Development in is 
CIL zone and not in CIL 
Reg123 exclusions. HCC 
fire may also comment for 
hydrants.  

Noted  

Page 51



Hertfordshire Ecology No response received   

HCC Waste and 
Minerals 

No objection subject to 
securing of a Site Waste 
Management Plan in 
accordance with details 
provided.  

Details of site waste 
management would be 
included at Reserved 
Matters stage. 

HCC Safety Advisory 
Group 

No response received   

HCC Fire and Rescue 

No response received No response has been 
received however 
officer recommends 
inclusion of fire 
hydrant provision by 
condition. 

HCC Archaeology No response received   

 
7.2 Internal Consultees 

Name Comments  Actions  

WBC Transport and 
Projects  

Pedestrian and cycle links 
to the hospital are 
identified as requiring 
enhancement and 
improvement plans for 
these and other 
sustainable transport 
improvement projects are 
identified in Chapter 8 of 
the Final Draft Local Plan. 
Financial contributions to 
these projects are sought.   

Noted. Negotiations in 
respect of 
contributions are 
ongoing and members 
will be updated in 
advance of the 
committee meeting.  

WBC Contaminated 
Land Officer 

No objection subject to 
conditions in respect of 
land contamination. 

Contaminated land 
conditions are included 
in recommendation as 
requested  

WBC Economic 
Development 
Manager 

No response received   

Arboricultural Officer, 
Veolia UK PLC 

No objection subject to full 
Landscaping details under 
Reserved Matters and 
conditions. 

Noted and secured by 
condition and 
Reserved matters  

Page 52



WBC Waste And 
Recycling 

Response with no 
comment. 

  

WBC Environmental 
Health 

No objections in respect of 
acoustic report and no 
conditions requested.  

Noted 

WBC Property  No response received.    

WBC Urban Design 
and Conservation 
Manager 

No objection subject to 
details to be secured under 
Reserved Matters and 
Conditions.  

Noted  

WBC Planning Policy  Principle of hospital 
development is fully in 
accordance with current 
local policy.  

Noted  

WBC Parking Shop Request that the developer 
uses the site for deliveries 
rather than the 
surrounding streets to 
minimise impact on 
resident' parking.  

Noted and to be 
included in 
Construction 
Management Plan 
condition  

 
7.3 Interested parties  

 
 Letters were sent to 682 properties in the surrounding area and the 
application was advertised as follows: 

 4 Site notices, posted 28 May 2021, expiring on 18 June 2021 

 Watford Observer Advertisement, published 4 June 2021, expiring 25 
June 2021 

 
No other statutory advertisement was required for this application. 
  

7.4 The following is a summary of the representations that have been received: 
Number of original notifications: 682 
Number of objections: 20 
Number in support: 0 
Number of representations: 2 
TOTAL REPRESENTATIONS: 22 

 
7.5 All full responses are available to view online. A summary and officer 

comments in respect of the 1 objection and 2 general representations 
received from addresses within Watford Borough are as follows: 
 

Page 53



Comments Officer response 

Questions regarding the potential 
length of build time and potential 
impacts of construction works.  

These would be matters for the West 
Herts Hospital Trust to advise upon. The 
planning process will however secure 
Demolition and Construction 
Management Plans to reduce impacts.  

Request that non-emergency 
vehicles have access to Thomas 
Sawyer Way (restricted section) 
to relieve traffic on Vicarage 
Road  

This arrangement is outside the control 
of the current planning application and 
would be a matter for the Highway 
Authority to determine. It is nonetheless 
noted that the approved MSCP and the 
proposed hospital would be accessed 
from Thomas Sawyer Way so this will be 
expected to reduce traffic on Vicarage 
Road. 

Impact on Willow Lane in respect 
of its Victorian terrace character 

The character of the south-west side 
Willow Lane is noted and it is agreed 
that this is a very different form and 
scale of the existing hospital buildings of 
the north east side. The proposed 
development would be taller than the 
existing hospital buildings however 
would be at a further distance to Willow 
Lane. As seen in the Townscape Visual 
Impact images, it is considered that the 
relationship to Willow Lane would 
remain acceptable.  

Potential additional impact of 
traffic, parking, staff and anti-
social behaviour on Willow Lane. 

Willow Lane does not provide a through 
route other than for blue light access 
and is not included within the vehicle 
access arrangement. The open campus 
layout of the existing hospital is to 
change to create a central route via the 
east side of the site and away from 
Willow Lane. This design is therefore 
expected to reduce impacts to the 
residential areas of Willow Lane and 
Vicarage Road.  

Longer term noise and air quality 
conditions with wider masterplan 
development. 

This application can only consider the 
impacts of the proposed development 
which have been detailed as having 
negligible or low impacts in respect of 
noise and air quality. Future 

Page 54



development applications would need 
to be assessed in the same way for their 
additional and cumulative impacts.  

Surrounding road are not bike 
friendly and pedestrian 
improvements are needed. 

The need for improvements to cycle and 
walking routes is identified in the Final 
Draft Local Plan. The proposed 
development will be securing 
improvements by way of S106 
requirements and contributions.  

Increased traffic and speeding on 
surrounding roads.  

With the retention of the same parking 
provision and inclusion of significant 
improvements to non-car transport 
options, it is not expected that the new 
hospital would create increased traffic 
on the surrounding roads. Speeding is a 
Police matter and not something that 
can be controlled through the planning 
process.  

Impact to wildlife The Preliminary Ecological Assessment 
finds that there is no identified harm to 
habitats or wildlife and the development 
will offer improved biodiversity in the 
landscaping.  

 
7.6 A summary and officer comments in respect of the 19 objections received 

from addresses outside Watford Borough are as follows: 
 

Comments Officer response 

This is the wrong location for a 
new West Herts Hospital. It is not 
accessible from the wider area 
including Hemel Hempstead, St 
Albans, Berkhamsted and 
Leighton Buzzard. New hospital 
should be on a more central, 
Greenfield site.  
 
 

The preferred choice for the location for the 
new hospital adjacent to the existing 
hospital in Watford has been a decision 
made by the West Herts Hospital Trust 
following their extensive work on reviewing 
and analysing options and in consultation 
with their stakeholders. This is not a matter 
this planning application can consider or 
control. 

Watford roads do not support car 
and ambulance traffic to the 
hospital, particularly affected on 
match days.  

Thomas Sawyer Way was built as a new 
road to serve the hospital site.  

Insufficient parking to support As detailed in Highways and Transport of 

Page 55



the expanded hospital staff, 
patients and visitors 

the report, the car parking provision is 
within the maximum standards set by local 
policy. The transport strategy to the 
development also facilitates extensive 
improvements to sustainable transport 
options, as required by local, county and 
national policy.   

There is a long uphill walk from 
parking to the hospital   

This has been the arrangement for many 
years with a notable and uneven walk from 
car parking at the south of the site to the 
hospital buildings. This is however to be 
alleviated with the new MSCP which is 
under construction. This will allow easy and 
step free access to the hospital opposite its 
frontage, with the provision of lifts and a 
direct bridge link.   

Inadequate transport links to this 
site.  

As detailed in Highways and Transport 
section of the report, the transport strategy 
for the development facilitates extensive 
improvements to sustainable transport 
options. These are to be secured within 
conditions and S106 requirements.  

The site is too small for the 
hospital space needed created a 
building that is too tall for the 
context and would have fire and 
safety risks for patients and staff.  

It is noted that the maximum limits would 
create a building of significant height and 
visual presence. High quality design for this 
building is, however, secured within the 
Design Code and it is considered 
appropriate in respect of the important civic 
nature of the building and the benefits it 
would afford.  

Comments made in respect of 
the potential additional hospital 
expansion and residential 
buildings to the north of the new 
hospital shown within the 
masterplan.  

These have been included only as indicative 
to what could come forward on the site to 
the north as part of a ‘Masterplan’ for the 
area and to demonstrate that the hospital 
development would itself not prevent 
further development. These elements are, 
however, not subject to assessment or 
approval under this application which 
relates to the new hospital site only and 
would need to be considered under 
separate applications.  

The submission does not provide 
additional detail in response to 

The principle to achieve this is set out in 
chapter 6 of the Design Code. The detailed 

Page 56



the Feb 2021 Place Shaping 
comments in respect of how the 
indoor spaces and landscaping 
will work together to create the 
healing environment.  

designs for the buildings and roof terraces 
are not, however, required for this outline 
application, these are expected in later 
submissions and have been secured by 
condition.  

Existing hospital staff, patients 
and visitors would be adversely 
affected by noise and dust during 
construction works 

A condition is recommended for a 
Demolition and Construction Management 
Plan to secure a strategy to minimise 
impacts of the development to the existing 
hospital and surrounding areas.  

 
8 Recommendation 

 
a. Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of negotiations to secure further 

sustainable transport measures under s106 by no later than 27th October 
2021 Outline Planning Permission be granted subject to the conditions and 
S106 heads of terms detailed in section 8 of the report.  
 

b. That the Head of Planning and Development be given delegated authority 
in consultation with the Chair of Development Management and the 
Portfolio Holder for Planning to conclude the negotiations and agree the 
further sustainable transport measures to be included in the s106. 

 

c. In the event that the further sustainable transport measures have not been 
agreed by 27th October 2021 that Outline Planning Permission be refused 
for the reason that the development would not include sustainable 
transport measures to support future staff, patients and visitors and would 
have an unacceptable highway impact, contrary to paragraphs 108, 109 
and 110 of the NPPF, Policy 5 of Hertfordshire County Council’s Local 
Transport Plan 2018-2031 and policies T3 and T5 of the Watford Local Plan 
Core Strategy. 

 
Section 106 Heads of Terms 
 
i) To secure the provision and maintenance of a safe and direct 

pedestrian and cycle route from the north of the site to Vicarage Road 
at all times following occupation of the new hospital. Details of this 
route shall include its position, width, surface finish, lighting, signage 
and any level changes.  
 

ii) To secure an updated Travel Plan to include other sustainable transport 
measures to be agreed and to secure a financial payment to 

Page 57



Hertfordshire County Council of £6,000 for the long term monitoring of 
the Travel Plan for the site. 

 
Conditions 
 

1. Reserved Matters 
Approval of the details of the following reserved matters shall be obtained 
from the Local Planning Authority before any development commences: 
(a) appearance; (b) access; (c) landscaping; (d) layout; (e) scale. 
 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Articles 6 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 2016, as amended. 

 
2. Time Limit  

Application(s) for approval of the 'reserved matters' must be made not later 
than the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. The 
development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, 
in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last 
reserved matter to be approved. 
  
Reason: To prevent the accumulation of unimplemented planning 
permissions, to enable the Local Planning Authority to review the suitability of 
the development in the light of altered circumstances and to comply with the 
provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
3. Drawing Numbers 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings 
and documents unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The following drawings are hereby approved:   
 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03001- C01 Application and Ownership Boundary 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03002 - C01 Existing Site Block Plan 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22301 - C01 Existing Site Sections AA and BB 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22302 - C01 Existing Site Sections CC and DD 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20021 - C01 Site Plan - Proposed Demolitions 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20000 C01 - Parameter Plan- Development Plot 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20002 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Maximum Height  
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Access and 
Movement WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20004 - C01 - Parameter Plan - 
Frontages and Spaces 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00103 - Design Code 

Page 58



 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
4. Surface Water Drainage Scheme 

No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for 
the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface water run-off generated up 
to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will not 
exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding 
rainfall event. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance 
with the approved details before the development is completed. A full 
detailed drainage design and surface water drainage assessment should 
include: 
  
1. A drainage strategy which includes a commitment to providing appropriate 
SuDS in line with the non-statutory national standards, industry best practice 
and HCC Guidance for SuDS.  
2. Full detailed design drainage plan including location of all the drainage 
features.  
3. Where infiltration is proposed, evidence of ground conditions/ underlying 
geology and permeability including BRE Digest 365 compliant infiltration tests.  
4. Detailed calculations of existing/proposed surface water storage volumes 
and flows with initial post development calculations and/or modelling in 
relation to surface water are to be carried out for all rainfall events up to and 
including the 1 in 100 year including an allowance for climate change.  
5. Evidence that if the applicant is proposing to discharge to the local sewer 
network, they have confirmation from the relevant water company that they 
have the capacity to take the proposed volumes and run-off rates.  
6. Discharge from the site should be at an agreed rate with the water 
company. This should be at Greenfield run-off rate; technical justification will 
be needed if a different rate is to be used.  
7. An indicative maintenance plan detailing how the scheme shall be 
maintained and managed. 
 
Reason: A surface water drainage assessment is vital if the local planning 
authority is to make informed planning decisions. In the absence of an FRA / 
surface water drainage assessment, the flood risks resulting from the 
proposed development are unknown. This should be provided to prevent the 
increased risk of flooding, both on and off site. 

 
5. Demolition and Construction Environment Management plans 

Page 59



a) No demolition works shall commence within the site until a Demolition 
Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority. This Plan shall include details of the 
access arrangements for demolition vehicles, a traffic plan for 
demolition vehicles, contractors’ parking, the delivery and storage of 
materials, measures to mitigate noise and dust, wheel washing 
facilities, plant and equipment and a contact procedure for complaints. 
The Plan as approved shall be implemented throughout the 
construction period.  

b) No construction works shall commence within the site until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan has been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. This Plan shall include 
details of the access arrangements for construction vehicles, a traffic 
plan for construction vehicles, contractors’ parking, the delivery and 
storage of materials, measures to mitigate noise and dust, wheel 
washing facilities, plant and equipment and a contact procedure for 
complaints. The Plan as approved shall be implemented throughout the 
construction period.  

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities and quiet enjoyment of neighbouring 
properties and prevent obstruction of the adjoining highway during the time 
that the development is being implemented. 

 
6. Contamination remediation  

Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning 
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall 
each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 

 
i) A site investigation, based on the Ground Conditions and Contamination Risk 
Assessment prepared by GB Geotechnics Ltd (Report ref. WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-
RP-T-00116), to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site. This should include an 
assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, pests, woodland and service lines and 
pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments. 
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (i) and, based 
on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
iii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and identifying any 

Page 60



requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance 
and arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these components 
require the express consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors.  

 
7. Tree protection 

Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall be in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (Rev C02) and shall also include the following: 
  

i) Facilitation pruning details; 
ii) Underground services and drainage layout; and 
iii) General construction precautionary measures including detail of 
Tree Protection Plan 

 
The approved measures and details shall be installed and maintained 
throughout the development unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interest of tree protection pursuant to ‘saved’ policy SE37 of 
the Watford District Plan 2000. 

 
8. Fire Hydrants 

No construction works shall commence until a detailed scheme for the 
provision of mains water services to serve the development, including, where 
necessary, fire hydrants, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. No occupation of the development shall take 
place until the approved mains water scheme been provided in full. 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition in order to ensure adequate 
mains water services, and in particular fire hydrants, are provided to serve the 
development. 
 

9. Energy Statement 
i) Prior to the commencement of development, an Energy Strategy in 

accordance with the targets and objectives set out in the Energy 

Page 61



Strategy shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

ii) Prior to occupation, evidence demonstrating that the approved 
measures have been implemented, together with detail of ongoing 
management and maintenance to ensure the measures continue to 
achieve the predicted CO2 emissions reduction shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to minimising the effects of, 
and can adapt to a changing climate. 

  
10. Sustainability Statement 

Prior to commencement of development, a Sustainability Statement based on 
the Sustainability Statement submitted, shall be submitted for approval in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed 
in full accordance with the sustainability statement prior to occupation.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the 
effects of, and can adapt to a changing climate. 

 
11. Slow-worm Translocation Strategy 

Prior to the commencement of development, a Translocation Strategy for 
slow-worms shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The translocation strategy should involve the following:  
i) A suitable receptor site is required to support any animals captured as part 

of the mitigation strategy. The green space (TQ1059095231) to the south 
of the disused railway which was used as a receptor site for the 
translocation of a low population of slow‐worm as part of the Waterside 
and Farm Terrace Allotments development (17/01511/FULM) should be 
used as the receptor site. The slow‐worms are a part of the same 
metapopulation and the proposed site is of a suitable size (≈3.5ha) and 
habitat quality to support the residual animals. As the site is owned by a 
third party, consent must be established prior to any translocations.    

ii) Temporary reptile fencing is not deemed necessary as the site is isolated 
from nearby slow‐worm populations and the proposed receptor site by 
new road and residential developments.  

iii) Manipulation of the vegetation within the site should be carried out to 
enhance capture methods, the existing scrub should be strimmed or 
brush‐cut under the supervision of an ecologist to around 15cm in height. 
Vegetation work should only be undertaken during fine and mild weather. 

iv) Following manipulation of the vegetation artificial reptile mats (50/ha) 
should be deployed and left in situ for 2 weeks. Once the mats have ‘bed 
in’ 30 days (when slow‐ w would be expected to be active conditions) 

Page 62



trapping and translocation to the receptor site should commence. This will 
involve catching slow‐worms by hand and placing into existing refugia 
within the receptor site. The work should be carried out between late April 
and late June or between late August and late September by a suitably 
experienced ecologist. The trapping can conclude after 30 days when there 
has been 5 consecutive days of no slow‐worm captures or observations. 

v) Hand searching should be undertaken to supplement the trapping and 
translocation. This involves carefully searching through dense vegetation, 
or dismantling small structures by hand. 

 
The Translocation Strategy for slow-worms shall be carried out prior to 
commencement of the development.  
 
Reason: In order to prevent the inadvertent killing of slow‐worms of which 
there was one found under the Preliminary Ecological Assessment.  

 
12. Bat survey  

If the proposed demolition of the existing buildings or felling of identified 
trees has not been carried out before the end of April 2022 a further Bat 
Survey shall be undertaken and submitted and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the development. The Bat 
survey shall consist of a Preliminary Roost Assessment and Emergence/Re‐
entry Survey undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist.  

 
Reason: The bat survey is valid for 12 months as detailed in the Preliminary 
Ecological Assessment.  

 
13. Compliance Statement 

All Reserved Matters applications shall be accompanied by a Compliance 
Statement to demonstrate compliance of the Reserved Matters applications 
with the outline permission and shall include to following details: 
 
i) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Parameters Plans 
ii) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Design Code 
iii) Detail if and why there are any instances where the Reserved Matters 

application deviates from the Indicative Scheme of section 5.2 of the 
Design and Access Statement for the outline application  

 
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to assess the compliance of the 
Reserved Matters applications as being in accordance with the approved 
Parameter Plans and Design Code.  
 

14. Maximum Heights  

Page 63



All Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the approved Parameter 
Plan for Maximum Height as follows: 
i) No part of the building, including roof terrace screens or loggias, shall 

exceed the maximum heights of the development as detailed in the 
Maximum Height Parameter Plan; 

ii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approves an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +150m AOD for up to 60% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +112m AOD; and 

iii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approved an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +112m AOD for up to 75% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +90m AOD. 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt in respect of the maximum building heights 
approved.  
  

15. Appearance  
Any application in respect of reserved matter (a) ‘Appearance’ shall include 
details of all matters of appearance including, but not limited to, the following: 
i) All external materials including sample panels to be made up on site and 

made available for inspection by the Local Planning Authority 
ii) All plant and equipment including gas storage, roof plant, PV, cleaning 

cradles, lift overruns, railing, flues, vents and telecommunication equipment 
and any associated mitigation to avoid noise impacts; 

iii) Bridge links which shall have a transparency of 60-80% on elevations; 
iv) Entrances and Active Frontages, as identified on the Parameter Plan for 

Frontages and Spaces, to include shopfronts and direct accesses to ancillary 
retail units; 

v) How the design of the building responds to micro-climate issues such as 
wind and sun, including any screening or mitigation to prevent adverse wind 
impact or overheating 

 
16. Landscaping 

Any application in respect of reserved matter (c) ‘Landscaping’ shall include 
details of all matters of site landscaping including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
i) Access arrangements for public and non-public spaces; 
ii) Access, landscaping and management of roof terraces and podiums  
iii) How the landscaping design responds to micro-climate issues such as wind 

or shading, including any mitigation; 

Page 64



iv) Location and detail of all public seating and seating associated to the 
ancillary retail uses including microclimate mitigation for these areas 
including screens, shelters or heating; 

v) Location and detail of public art; 
vi) Site wide scheme of wayfinding; and 
vii) External lighting scheme. 

 
17. Final ground and floor levels 

Details of the proposed finished floor levels of all buildings and the finished 
ground levels of the site, in relation to existing site levels of surrounding 
property shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority with the submission of any reserved matters application. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
levels.  
 
Reason: To ensure that construction is carried out at suitable levels having 
regard to the scale of the development. 
 

18. Contamination verification  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and 
maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to 
exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be 
implemented. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors. 
 

19. Foul Water- Thames Water 
The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been provided 
that either:- 1.  All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate 
the additional flows from the development have been completed; or- 2.  A 
development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority to allow development to be occupied.  Where a 
development and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall 
take place other than in accordance with the agreed development and 
infrastructure phasing plan.   

Page 65



 
Reason: Network reinforcement works are likely to be required to 
accommodate the proposed development 

 
20. BREEAM Excellent 

No part of the development shall be occupied until a full BREEAM Post 
Construction report (prepared by the registered BREEAM assessor together 
with confirmation that this has been submitted to the BRE (or other approved 
registration body), including dates/receipt confirmation email from the BRE) 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing.  
Within 6 months of first occupation the final post construction BREEAM 
certificate(s) indicating that a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating has been achieved 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development incorporates sustainable design and 
construction methodology as detailed in the application documents.   
 

21. Travel Plan  
No part of the development shall be occupied until a Travel Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Travel Plan shall be implemented at all times.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy T3 
of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31. 

 
22. Accesses installed 

No part of the development shall be occupied until the new vehicular 
accesses, as shown in principle on Parameter Plan Connections and Access 
(WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01), have been laid out and constructed 
in accordance with the details to be approved under reserved matter (b) 
Access.  
 
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and pedestrians, in accordance with Policy T21 of the Watford 
District Plan 2000. 

 
23. Surface Water Drainage Completion 

Upon completion of the drainage works, a management and maintenance 
plan for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management and 
maintenance plan shall include:  
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage 
layout for the site drainage network.  

Page 66



2. Maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development.  
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the 
operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 
Reasons: To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory maintenance of the 
surface water network on the site and to reduce the risk of flooding to the 
proposed development and future occupants. 
 

24. Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
The Development shall be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment (Rev C02) unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Local Planning  
 
Reason: In the interest of tree protection pursuant to policy UD1 and SE37 of 
the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
25. Cycle Storage to be installed  

The cycle parking approved by any subsequent reserved matters application 
shall be installed and made available for use prior to the occupation of any 
part of the development and shall be retained at all times for cycle storage 
only and shall not be used for any other purpose.  
 
Reason: To ensure that secure and weatherproof cycle storage facilities are 
provided for future staff, patients and visitors in accordance with ‘saved’ 
policy T10 of the Watford District Plan 2000, Policy UD1 of the Watford Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 and policy ST11.5 of the Final Draft Watford Local 
Plan.  

 
26. Car free Green Spine  

The Pedestrian Priority Route to the north east of the site, identified on the 
Connections and Access parameter Plan, and referred to as the ‘Green Spine’ 
in the Design Code,  shall be ‘car-free’ and used only by pedestrians and cycles 
other than for maintenance and emergency vehicle access.  
 
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway and pedestrians, in accordance with Policy T21 of the Watford 
District Plan 2000 and to create a safe public space in accordance with Policy 
UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
27. Soft Landscaping carried out 

The soft landscaping scheme to be approved under reserved matter (c) 
Landscaping shall be carried out as approved not later than the first available 
planting and seeding season after completion of the development. Any trees 

Page 67



or plants whether new or existing which within a period of five years die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of similar size and species, or in accordance 
with details approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance and ecology of the site in 
accordance with Policy UD1 of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy and 
‘saved’ policy SE37 of the Watford District Plan 2000. 
 

28. Unexpected contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported 
in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must 
be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 1, which is 
subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition 1. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors. 

 
 
 

Page 68



 
1 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

27 JULY 2021 
 

 
Present: Councillor P Jeffree (Chair) 

Councillor R Martins (Vice-Chair) 
 Councillors N Bell, S Johnson, J Pattinson, A Saffery, S Trebar, 

M Watkin and D Watling 
 

Also present: Councillor Ezeifedi, Dr Philip Aylett, Mr Duane Passman, Mr 
Billy Pattison and Mrs June Wilkinson 
 

Officers: Head of Planning and Development 
Principal Planning Officer 
Democratic Services Officer 
 

 
 
Conduct of the meeting 
 
The committee will take items in the following order: 
 

1. All items where people wish to speak and have registered with 
Democratic Services. 

2. Any remaining items the committee agrees can be determined without 
further debate. 

3. Those applications which the committee wishes to discuss in detail. 
 
Please note that the following update documents were supplied to the 
Committee prior to the hearing.   

 Officer’s presentation 

 Update sheet 

 Summary of NPPF 
 
 

11   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There was a change of membership for this meeting: Councillor Watling replaced 
Councillor Smith.   
 
 
 

Page 69



 
2 

12   DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
Councillors Nigel Bell and Peter Jeffree declared that they had independently 
carried out site visits to King Georges Avenue and spoken with Mrs Wilkinson.  
Neither had expressed any views. 
 
Councillor Pattinson stated that she was a member of the stakeholder reference 
group for the West Herts Hospitals Trust building works, but had no influence on 
the planning application, but did have sight of the plans prior to this meeting.    
 

13   MINUTES  
 
The minutes from the meeting on 6 July 2021 were approved and signed. 
 

14   21/00765/OUTM WATFORD GENERAL HOSPITAL  VICARAGE ROAD 
WATFORD WD18 0HB  
 
The Principal Planning Officer delivered her report and the committee noted that 
an update sheet had been provided to them and also published on the council’s 
website.    
 
The Chair then invited Dr Philip Aylett to address the committee.   
 
Dr Aylett explained his concerns regarding potential flooding at the site of the 
proposed development, citing Hertfordshire County Council experts’ submissions 
over the failure to take into account the increase in surface water.  Although 
there was a planned 75% reduction in the rate of discharge, this did not take 
climate change into account.  Dr Aylett pointed out that part of the site was 
already classified as high risk in relation to flooding and asked officers to explain 
why this important risk assessment was not included in the report.   
 
Turning to the flood risk assessment, Dr Aylett pointed out that the southern 
corner should not be built upon, but the proposal is for the main entrance to be 
sited in that area.   
 
Dr Aylett expressed his concern regarding the potential wind tunnel effect with 
such tall buildings, the small amount of green landscaping and the lack of privacy 
with the triple towers being sited directly opposite each other and only 17 
metres apart.   
 
He pointed out that the five years of construction works would have a significant 
adverse effect on the patients in the existing hospital, especially as many 
windows needed to be open, resulting in exposure to dust, pollution and noise.   
 

Page 70



 
3 

Dr Aylett pointed out that at 82 metres, the proposed scheme would be the 
fourth highest NHS building in the country.  He concluded by urging the 
committee to reject the application as it would not provide the promised healing 
environment. 
 
The Chair thanked Dr Aylett and asked the Principal Planning Officer to comment 
on the issue of flooding.  She commented that according to the Environment 
Agency, the site was in flood zone 1, the lowest risk of flooding.  As regards 
surface water flooding, the council consulted with the flood water team at 
Hertfordshire County Council.  Because the scheme was only an outline at this 
stage, it was not possible for the design team to provide full solutions as this was 
part of the outline reserve matters process.  Condition 4 provided various 
strategies and requirements to address this issue.   
 
The Chair then invited Mr Duane Passman, the Acute Hospital Programme 
Director for West Hertfordshire NHS Trust to address the committee.  
 
Mr Passman explained how the Trust had been pursuing improvements to its 
estate for over twenty years, with two thirds below the minimum required 
standard.  He went on to list various statistics concerning the poor state of 
Watford Hospital and described the submission in 2015, highlighting that the 
redevelopment of the existing site together with improvements at Hemel 
Hempstead and St Albans was the quickest and most effective route to provide 
new facilities.   
  
Mr Passman described how the approval of the outline planning permission, was 
an essential step in the process to secure the necessary funds.  He went on to 
describe the future strategy for the area’s medical care and stressed that the 
committee held one of the major keys to the scheme moving forward for the 
benefit of the people of West Hertfordshire.   
 
The Chair thanked Mr Passman and expressed his personal view that he was 
pleased this was coming forward after so many years.  He stressed that Watford 
was very much invested in the hospital.   
 
The committee voiced their support for the scheme and all recognised the 
benefits for the people of Watford and West Hertfordshire.  Whilst they noted 
the concerns raised by Dr Aylett, they accepted that this was merely an outline 
plan.  They did however, raise the following issues: 

 Flood Plan – the expectation was that any flood plan would be 
looked at in more detail to ensure that any potential issues with 
surface water were addressed. 

 A resident’s concerns regarding Willow Lane, but it was explained 
that the described anti-social behaviour and overspill parking should 

Page 71



 
4 

be addressed by the planned parking facilities and the improvements 
to sustainable transport in the area.  The impact of overspill parking 
in the nearby residents was also noted.  It was again stressed that 
the taller elements of the design would be situated well away from 
local residences. 

 The wind tunnel effect from the tall buildings – the officer explained 
that the “fingers” option of three towers was chosen over the single 
“block” option, following advice from the clinical staff in that 
clinically it was the better option.  Additionally, it was felt that the 
chosen option broke up the massing and was more sympathetic to 
the gradient.  The wind tunnel effect had been considered and wind 
mitigation was planned, but at this outline stage it was difficult to 
pinpoint exactly where that mitigation should be sited.   

 The privacy issue for patients - there were no privacy standards for 
hospitals, but residential standards were 22 metres apart.  It was felt 
that 16 metres separation was fair considering the level of privacy 
one might expect in a public hospital.  There would be further 
refinement.     

 There was a concern that the materials and architecture as seen in 
the outline application would subsequently be downgraded, but 
there was reassurance in that this scheme would return to this 
committee for further more detailed scrutiny when applications for 
reserved matters are submitted for approval.   

 There was a concern that the large staff car parking allocation (300 
spaces) did not send out the correct sustainable transport message 
and perhaps more could be done to promote the sustainable 
transport message.  The committee were reassured that a range of 
good quality, viable measures would be introduced to reduce car 
usage.   

 The Trust were asked to carefully consider that the bus stop was 
some distance from the entrance and getting back up the hill from 
the entrance might be very difficult for some, particularly if the wind 
tunnel effect was not resolved.  The close proximity of the towers 
and the resulting privacy concerns for patients left some of the 
committee uneasy.   

 In response to a question, the Principal Planning Officer reassured 
the committee that the issues flagged by the Watford Place Shaping 
Panel had been addressed; namely that the sustainable transport 
options and site layout needed some improvements to better 
facilitate sustainable transport.  In particular that the top of the site 
linked to Vicarage Road, which had been secured by Section 106 
Heads of Terms.  Additionally the importance of the green spine 

Page 72



 
5 

being a quality space that people wanted to use, was fully 
understood.  

    
The Chair summed up and made three points: 

1. He urged the architect to take note of the committee’s comments 
and ensure a high quality building. 

2. There needed to be a clear route to the entrance and he expressed 
his opinion that currently this was not the case.   

3. He endorsed the ambition to be carbon neutral, but asked why the 
huge roof of the multi-storey car park did not have solar panels. 

  
The Chair then moved that planning permission be granted subject to the 
completion of a planning obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to secure the provisions of the updated S106 Heads of Terms 
and subject to the conditions as detailed in section 8 of the report and as below. 
 
RESOLVED –  
that the outline application be approved, subject to the following conditions and 
Section 106 heads of Terms. 
 

a. Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of negotiations to secure further 
sustainable transport measures under s106 by no later than 27th 
October 2021 Outline Planning Permission be granted subject to the 
conditions and S106 heads of terms detailed in section 8 of the report.  

 
b. That the Head of Planning and Development be given delegated 

authority in consultation with the Chair of Development Management 
and the Portfolio Holder for Planning to conclude the negotiations and 
agree the further sustainable transport measures to be included in the 
s106. 

 
c. In the event that the further sustainable transport measures have not 

been agreed by 27th October 2021 that Outline Planning Permission be 
refused for the reason that the development would not include 
sustainable transport measures to support future staff, patients and 
visitors and would have an unacceptable highway impact, contrary to 
paragraphs 108, 109 and 110 of the NPPF, Policy 5 of Hertfordshire 
County Council’s Local Transport Plan 2018-2031 and policies T3 and T5 
of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy. 

 
Section 106 Heads of Terms 
 

i) To secure the provision and maintenance of a safe and direct 
pedestrian and cycle route from the north of the site to Vicarage 

Page 73



 
6 

Road at all times following occupation of the new hospital with 
details to submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details of this route shall include its position, width, 
surface finish, lighting, signage and any level changes.  

 
ii) To secure an updated Travel Plan and financial payment to 

Hertfordshire County Council of £6,000 for the long term 
monitoring of the Travel Plan for the site. 

 
iii) To secure a financial payment of £600,000 to Hertfordshire County 

Council towards bus services in the vicinity of the hospital. 
 

iv) To secure a financial payment of £250,000 to Hertfordshire County 
Council for the improvements along Thomas Sawyer Way; and  

 
v) To secure a financial payment of £150,000 to Watford Borough 

Council for improvements to pedestrian and cycling routes to the 
hospital. 

 
Conditions 
 

1. Reserved Matters 
Approval of the details of the following reserved matters shall be obtained from 
the Local Planning Authority before any development commences: 
(a) appearance; (b) access; (c) landscaping; (d) layout; (e) scale. 
 

2. Time Limit  
Application(s) for approval of the 'reserved matters' must be made not later than 
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. The development 
to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of 
two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the case of 
approval on different dates, the final approval of the last reserved matter to be 
approved. 
 

3. Drawing Numbers 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following drawings 
and documents unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The following drawings are hereby approved:   
 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03001- C01 Application and Ownership Boundary 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-03002 - C01 Existing Site Block Plan 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22301 - C01 Existing Site Sections AA and BB 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-DR-T-22302 - C01 Existing Site Sections CC and DD 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20021 - C01 Site Plan - Proposed Demolitions 

Page 74



 
7 

WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20000 C01 - Parameter Plan- Development Plot 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20002 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Maximum Height  
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Access and Movement 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00-DR-T-20004 - C01 - Parameter Plan - Frontages and Spaces 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00103 - Design Code 
 
 
 

4. Surface Water Drainage Scheme 
No development shall commence until a surface water drainage scheme for the 
site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the 
hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
drainage strategy should demonstrate the surface water run-off generated up to 
and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change critical storm will not exceed 
the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall event. 
The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. A full detailed drainage 
design and surface water drainage assessment should include: 
  
1. A drainage strategy which includes a commitment to providing appropriate 
SuDS in line with the non-statutory national standards, industry best practice and 
HCC Guidance for SuDS.  
2. Full detailed design drainage plan including location of all the drainage 
features.  
3. Where infiltration is proposed, evidence of ground conditions/ underlying 
geology and permeability including BRE Digest 365 compliant infiltration tests.  
4. Detailed calculations of existing/proposed surface water storage volumes and 
flows with initial post development calculations and/or modelling in relation to 
surface water are to be carried out for all rainfall events up to and including the 1 
in 100 year including an allowance for climate change.  
5. Evidence that if the applicant is proposing to discharge to the local sewer 
network, they have confirmation from the relevant water company that they 
have the capacity to take the proposed volumes and run-off rates.  
6. Discharge from the site should be at an agreed rate with the water company. 
This should be at Greenfield run-off rate; technical justification will be needed if 
a different rate is to be used.  
7. An indicative maintenance plan detailing how the scheme shall be maintained 
and managed. 
 

5. Construction Environment Management plans 
No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
including elements of the CLOCS standards as set out in the Highway Authority’s 

Page 75



 
8 

Construction Management template. Thereafter the construction of the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved Plan: The 
Construction Management Plan / Statement shall include details of:  
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  
b. Access arrangements to the site;  
c. Traffic management requirements  
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas);  
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of construction 
activities;  
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway;  
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of hoarding, 
pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements;  
k. Phasing Plan. 
 

6. Contamination remediation  
Prior to the commencement of development approved by this planning 
permission (or such other date or stage in development as may be agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority), the following components of a 
scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site shall 
each be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the local planning authority: 
 
i) A site investigation, based on the Ground Conditions and Contamination Risk 
Assessment prepared by GB Geotechnics Ltd (Report ref. WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-
RP-T-00116), to provide information for a detailed assessment of the risk to all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site. This should include an 
assessment of the potential risks to: human health, property (existing or 
proposed) including buildings, crops, pests, woodland and service lines and 
pipes, adjoining land, ground waters and surface waters, ecological systems, 
archaeological sites and ancient monuments. 
ii) The site investigation results and the detailed risk assessment (i) and, based on 
these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
iii) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order 
to demonstrate that the works set out in (ii) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action. Any changes to these components require 

Page 76



 
9 

the express consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved. 
 

7. Tree protection 
Prior to the commencement of development, an Arboricultural Method 
Statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. This shall be in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (Rev C02) and shall also include the following: 
  
i) Facilitation pruning details; 
ii) Underground services and drainage layout; and 
iii) General construction precautionary measures including detail of Tree 
Protection Plan 
The approved measures and details shall be installed and maintained throughout 
the development unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 

8. Fire Hydrants 
No construction works shall commence until a detailed scheme for the provision 
of mains water services to serve the development, including, where necessary, 
fire hydrants, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. No occupation of the development shall take place until the 
approved mains water scheme been provided in full. 
Reason: This is a pre-commencement condition in order to ensure adequate 
mains water services, and in particular fire hydrants, are provided to serve the 
development. 
 

9. Energy Statement 
i) Prior to the commencement of development, an Energy Strategy in 

accordance with the targets and objectives set out in the Energy 
Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

ii) Prior to occupation, evidence demonstrating that the approved 
measures have been implemented, together with detail of ongoing 
management and maintenance to ensure the measures continue to 
achieve the predicted CO2 emissions reduction shall be submitted 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 
 

10. Sustainability Statement 
Prior to commencement of development, a Sustainability Statement based on 
the Sustainability Statement submitted, shall be submitted for approval in 

Page 77



 
10 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in 
full accordance with the sustainability statement prior to occupation.  
 

11. Slow-worm Translocation Strategy 
Prior to the commencement of development within the donor area indicated in 
‘Slow Worm Translocation Strategy V01’ drawing, the Translocation Strategy for 
slow-worms as detailed in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment Rev C02 
[WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00112] shall be implemented.  
 

12. Maximum Heights  
All Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the approved Parameter Plan 
for Maximum Height as follows: 

i) No part of the building, with the exception of flues and roof top 
plant, shall exceed the maximum heights of the development as 
detailed in the Maximum Height Parameter Plan; 

ii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approves an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +150m AOD for up to 60% of 
the area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed 
a maximum height of +112m AOD; and 

iii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approved an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +112m AOD for up to 75% of 
the area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed 
a maximum height of +90m AOD. 

 
 

13. Bat survey  
If the proposed demolition of the existing buildings or felling of identified trees 
has not been carried out before the end of April 2022 a further Bat Survey shall 
be undertaken and submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of the development. The Bat survey shall 
consist of a Preliminary Roost Assessment and Emergence/Re‐entry Survey 
undertaken by a suitably qualified ecologist.  
 

14. Compliance Statement 
All Reserved Matters applications shall be accompanied by a Compliance 
Statement to demonstrate compliance of the Reserved Matters applications with 
the outline permission and shall include to following details: 

i) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Parameters Plans 
ii) Demonstrate compliance with the approved Design Code 

 
15. Detail if and why there are any instances where the Reserved Matters 

application deviates from the Indicative Scheme of section 5.2 of the 
Design and Access Statement for the outline application Maximum 
Heights  

Page 78



 
11 

All Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the approved Parameter Plan 
for Maximum Height as follows: 

i) No part of the building, including roof terrace screens or loggias, 
shall exceed the maximum heights of the development as detailed 
in the Maximum Height Parameter Plan; 

ii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approves an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +150m AOD for up to 60% of 
the area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed 
a maximum height of +112m AOD; and 

iii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approved an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +112m AOD for up to 75% of 
the area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed 
a maximum height of +90m AOD. 

  
16. Appearance  

Any application in respect of reserved matter (a) ‘Appearance’ shall include 
details of all matters of appearance including, but not limited to, the following: 

i) All external materials including sample panels to be made up on 
site and made available for inspection by the Local Planning 
Authority 

ii) All plant and equipment including gas storage, roof plant, PV, 
cleaning cradles, lift overruns, railing, flues, vents and 
telecommunication equipment and any associated mitigation to 
avoid noise impacts; 

iii) Bridge links which shall have a transparency of 60-80% on 
elevations; 

iv) Entrances and Active Frontages, as identified on the Parameter 
Plan for Frontages and Spaces, to include shopfronts and direct 
accesses to ancillary retail units; 

v) How the design of the building responds to micro-climate issues 
such as wind and sun, including any screening or mitigation to 
prevent adverse wind impact or overheating 

 
 
 
 

17. Landscaping 
Any application in respect of reserved matter (c) ‘Landscaping’ shall include 
details of all matters of site landscaping including, but not limited to, the 
following: 

i) Access arrangements for public and non-public spaces; 
ii) Access, landscaping and management of roof terraces and podiums  
iii) How the landscaping design responds to micro-climate issues such 

as wind or shading, including any mitigation; 

Page 79



 
12 

iv) Location and detail of all public seating and seating associated to 
the ancillary retail uses including microclimate mitigation for these 
areas including screens, shelters or heating; 

v) Location and detail of public art; 
vi) Site wide scheme of wayfinding; and 
vii) External lighting scheme. 

 
18. Final ground and floor levels 

Details of the proposed finished floor levels of all buildings and the finished 
ground levels of the site, in relation to existing site levels of surrounding property 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
with the submission of any reserved matters application. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved levels.  
 

19. Contamination verification  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to the first use or occupation of the development, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be produced together with any necessary monitoring and 
maintenance programme and copies of any waste transfer notes relating to 
exported and imported soils shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for approval. The approved monitoring and maintenance programme shall be 
implemented. 
 

20. Foul Water- Thames Water 
The development shall not be occupied until confirmation has been provided 
that either:- 1.  All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the 
additional flows from the development have been completed; or- 2.  A 
development and infrastructure phasing plan has been agreed with the Local 
Planning Authority to allow development to be occupied.  Where a development 
and infrastructure phasing plan is agreed, no occupation shall take place other 
than in accordance with the agreed development and infrastructure phasing 
plan.   
 

21. BREEAM Excellent 
Within 6 months of first occupation the final post construction BREEAM 
certificate(s) indicating that a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating has been achieved shall 
be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing.   

22. Travel Plan  
At least 3 months prior to the first occupation or use of the approved 
development a detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained 

Page 80



 
13 

therein and shall continue to be implemented unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 

23. Accesses installed 
No part of the development shall be occupied until the new vehicular accesses, 
as shown in principle on Parameter Plan Connections and Access (WHHT-BDP-
WGH-00-DR-T-20003 - C01), have been laid out and constructed in accordance 
with the details to be approved under reserved matter (b) Access.  
 

24. Surface Water Drainage Completion 
Upon completion of the drainage works, a management and maintenance plan 
for the SuDS features and drainage network must be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management and maintenance 
plan shall include:  
1. Provision of a complete set of as built drawings including the final drainage 
layout for the site drainage network.  
2. Maintenance and operational activities for the lifetime of the development.  
3. Arrangements for adoption and any other measures to secure the operation of 
the scheme throughout its lifetime.  
 

25. Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
The Development shall be carried out in accordance with the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment (Rev C02) unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local 
Planning  
 

26. Cycle Storage to be installed  
The cycle parking approved by any subsequent reserved matters application shall 
be installed and made available for use prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development and shall be retained at all times for cycle storage only and shall 
not be used for any other purpose.  
 

27. Car free Green Spine  
The Pedestrian Priority Route to the north east of the site, identified on the 
Connections and Access parameter Plan, and referred to as the ‘Green Spine’ in 
the Design Code,  shall be ‘car-free’ and used only by pedestrians and cycles 
other than for maintenance and emergency vehicle access.  
 

28. Soft Landscaping carried out 
The soft landscaping scheme to be approved under reserved matter (c) 
Landscaping shall be carried out as approved not later than the first available 
planting and seeding season after completion of the development. Any trees or 
plants whether new or existing which within a period of five years die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 

Page 81



 
14 

planting season with others of similar size and species, or in accordance with 
details approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

29. Unexpected contamination  
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development that was not previously identified it must be reported in 
writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk 
assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 1, which is subject to 
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of 
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report 
must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with condition 1. 
 

30. Materials Panel 
Construction of the superstructure shall not commence until: 

a) Full details of the materials to be used for all external surfaces have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; 

and   
b) Sample panels have been constructed on site to show the typical 

facades including panelling, window frames and glazing, and have 
been made available for inspection and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

31.  Access 
No development shall commence until full details (in the form of scaled plans 
and / or written specifications) have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following:  

i) Roads, footways.  
ii) Cycleways.  
iii) Foul and surface water drainage. 
iv) Visibility splay  
v) Access arrangements  
vi) Parking provision.  
vii) Loading areas.  
viii) Turning areas.  

 
32. Vehicular access 
Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted the 
vehicular access shall be completed and thereafter retained as shown on 
drawing number(s) (20175/019 Rev A, 20175/026 Rev C, 20175/027 Rev A and 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00_DR-T-20140 Rev C01) in accordance with 
details/specifications to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Page 82



 
15 

Planning Authority. Prior to use appropriate arrangements shall be made for 
surface water to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not 
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.  
33.  General Vehicle Through Route Closure  
Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted general 
vehicle through routes via the hospital between Vicarage Road, Willow Lane and 
Thomas Sawyer Way will be closed to general traffic.  
 

15   21/00218/FUL - 91-93 KING GEORGE'S AVENUE, WATFORD  
 
The Principal Planning Officer delivered her report.  
 
The Chair then invited Mrs June Wilkinson to address the committee.  Mrs 
Wilkinson explained that she lived adjacent to the proposed site and that her 
and sixty local residents had written to the council to voice their disapproval of 
the scheme.  She also voiced her disappointment at the lack of consultation.   
 Mrs Wilkinson went on to detail the concerns with the proposal: 

 The proposal was bulky and would result in overlooking.  The local 
area was predominantly two storey and this scheme would be out of 
character with the area.  She also commented adversely on the flat 
roof design.  The balconies would overlook residential gardens.  And 
the distances from neighbouring properties was less than the design 
guide recommended and contrary to Watford’s planning guidance.   

 The applicant had not undertaken an ecology survey.  The residents 
commissioned such a survey which revealed bat activity on the site.  
The report recommended an emergence study be carried out 
together with a study on nesting birds.  Watford’s core strategy 
policy, GI3 required proposals to conserve and enhance biodiversity 
and habitats and the application was contrary to this policy.   

 There were no replacement spaces for the six private garages, which 
would be demolished to make way for the development.  The 
parking assessment failed to take account of this and there would be 
a possible resulting increase in street parking.  There were no 
disabled spaces.   

 The red line boundary included Hanover Court, but did not serve 
notices on these addresses, as required by law.   

 The bin store appeared to be insufficient in size as it would serve two 
blocks of flats.  

  
Mrs Wilkinson acknowledged the need for more housing in the area, but the 
provision of new housing should not be at the expense of existing residents’ 
amenities or the environment.  
  

Page 83



 
16 

The Chair thanked Mrs Wilkinson and asked the Principal Planning Officer to 
comment of some of the issues she had raised.   

 Screening – the site would be protected by hoarding and therefore 
screened during the construction works.  Long term there would be 
a boundary fence, usually six feet high.  This must all be approved by 
Planning under conditions.   

 Overlooking – the balconies were now solid on the side to prevent 
overlooking onto number 95.  Regarding back to back distances, the 
distance was 27.5 metres.  It was felt that because of the existence 
of Hanover Court, there would be no worsening of the situation and 
therefore the distance was considered to be reasonable.   

 Ecology – it was a legal requirement that bats are not disturbed, but 
this was outside of planning.  An ecology survey and bat survey had 
both been requested prior to any development taking place.   

 Parking and existing garages – the garages were not included in the 
transport assessment, due to their limited impact on parking.  Most 
garages were used for storage and not for parking.  However, 
Watford’s parking standards were maximums. The maximum for this 
development would be nineteen and nine spaces for nine flats was 
considered reasonable.   

 Consultation letters were sent out to Hanover Court. 

 Bin storage was subject to conditions, with the developer required to 
provide details prior to construction. 

 Disabled parking – the existing scheme was from 2004.  Because this 
was such a long time ago the council was unable to revisit this.  
There was no policy requirement for the scheme to have disabled 
parking.   

 
The Chair invited Mr Billy Pattison of Boyer Planning to address the committee.   
 
 Mr Pattison dealt with the following four areas: 

 Principle of development – the demolition of the existing building to 
optimise the number of urgently needed dwellings was acceptable.  
Currently there was anti-social behaviour and fly tipping in the area 
of the site.   

 Design of the proposals - He described the proposed dwellings, their 
design features and the surrounding parking and amenity.   

 Impact on neighbouring residents – he explained how the building 
was designed to avoid adversely impacting the nearby residents, 
with a daylight and sunlight survey.  The balconies and windows had 
all been carefully considered to ensure that any overlooking did not 
worsen the position of residents.      

Page 84



 
17 

 Provision of car parking – this was broken up into clusters, divided by 
soft and hard landscaping.  Mr Pattison echoed the officer’s 
comments that garages were often used for storage rather than 
parking as contemporary cars are often too large for older garages.  
He concluded by describing the improved bin storage area.   

 
The Chair thanked Mr Pattison and invited Councillor Favour Ezefeidi, councillor 
for Holywell ward, to address the committee.   
 
Councillor Ezeifedi highlighted two issues. 

 Engaging with the community – she expressed surprise that the 
residents had only recently been informed about the committee.   

 She highlighted the error that had already been pointed out and 
corrected by the Principal Planning Officer, stating there were no 
side facing windows to number 95.  

 The councillor urged the committee to reject the proposal.   
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Ezeifedi and asked the Principal Planning Officer to 
clarify what notices and consultation had taken place.  It was explained that the 
initial consultation was February 2021, amendments to the scheme circulated in 
April 2021 and the notifications that the matter was coming to committee were 
sent out on 21 July.  
 
The committee debated the issues and most members stated that they were 
very unimpressed with the design and did not support the application in its 
current format.    
 
There was a lengthy debate with some councillors wishing to refuse the 
application, but unsure if there were sufficient grounds.  The debate focussed on 
the following: 

 Bulky, plain and uninspiring design.   

 Flat roof out of character with the area. 

 Rectangular, monolithic design, with large blank walls.  

 Did not comply with policy UD1 for a “beautiful and sustainable” 
design.   

 Loss of privacy for neighbours.   

 Adverse effect on the ecology.   

 Two storeys would be preferable to three in this area.   
  
Councillor Bell proposed a motion to refuse and advice was sought from the 
Head of Planning and Development if there were sufficient grounds to refuse.  
Opinion was provided that there were but the proposed motion needed more 

Page 85



 
18 

detail.  To assist the committee, the Principal Planning Officer provided a 
suggested wording for the motion.      
 
The Chair moved the recommendation to refuse section 73 application for the 
variation of condition 8 of planning permission 19/01411/VAR.  The committee 
voted unanimously.   
 
RESOLVED –  
 that the application be refused for the following reasons:  

1. By virtue of the form, flat roof, siting, bulk, lack of design detailing and 
large blank flank walls, the development would be of an incongruous 
architectural design, dominant and overbearing visually in streetscene and 
out of keeping with the character and appearance of the area. The 
proposed development fails to meet the requirements of policies UD1 of 
the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy, paragraph 7.3.4 of the Watford 
Residential Design Guide. The development would fail to create a high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and is contrary to paragraphs 
126, 130 and 134 of the NPPF. This harm would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development when assessed 
against paragraphs 11 (d) (ii) of the NPPF.  

 
2. The development would create unreasonable adverse impacts to amenity 

of neighbouring properties. By virtue of its appearance, position, depth 
and height the proposed development would have relationships to 
neighbouring properties contrary to guidance of 7.3 of the Residential 
Design Guide. The development would create visual dominance and an 
overbearing sense of enclosure to occupiers of No.95 King Georges 
Avenue and would result in unreasonable overlooking and loss of privacy 
to properties at Nos.12 to 28 Cassiobridge Road. The adverse impact to 
neighbours is contrary to policies SS1 and UD1 of the Watford Local Plan 
Core Strategy 2006-31 and sections 7.3 of the Residential Design Guide 
2016. 

 
 
 

 Chair 
The Meeting started at 7.00 pm 
and finished at 9.25 pm 
 

 

 

Page 86



Site Plan 

 

Page 87



Development Plot Parameter Plan 

 

Page 88



Maximum Height Parameter Plan  

 

Page 89



Access and Movement Parameter Plan  

 

Page 90



Frontages and Space Parameter Plan 

 

Page 91



Indicative Scheme Plan

 

 

Page 92



Aerial View of Indicative Scheme 

 

Page 93



DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

27th July 2021  
 

UPDATE SHEET 
 
 
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK 2021 
 
New NPPF has been published on 20th July 2021 and is now a material planning 
consideration relevant to the consideration of both planning applications for committee 
consideration.  
 
Relevant to Item 4 and Item 5 the updated NPPF includes a more detailed description of 
sustainable development in paragraph 11 and maintains the ‘presumption in favour of 
sustainable development’. The NPPF now includes objectives for “beautiful and 
sustainable buildings” including in paragraph 126.   
 
In respect of Item 4, there are no substantive changes to the national policy objectives of 
the NPPF in respect of the content detailed in the report for healthcare provision, high 
quality places, sustainable transport and environmental concerns.  
 
In respect of Item 5, there are no substantive changes to the national policy objectives of 
the NPPF in respect of the content detailed in the report for the delivery of new homes, 
the effective use of land for development, high quality design, transport matters and 
environmental concerns.  
 
For members’ information, a full summary of the NPPF changes has been prepared by 
Watford Borough Council Planning officers and is appended to this update sheet.  
 
Item 4: 21/00765/OUTM-  Watford General Hospital, Vicarage Road, Watford 
WD18 0HB 
 
AMENDED RECOMMENDATION  
 
That planning permission be granted subject to the completion of a planning 
obligation under s.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure the 
provisions of the updated S106 Heads of Terms and subject to the conditions as 
detailed in section 8 of the report and as below. 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



UPDATED S106 HEADS OF TERMS  
 

i) To secure the provision and maintenance of a safe and direct 
pedestrian and cycle route from the north of the site to Vicarage Road 
at all times following occupation of the new hospital with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Details of 
this route shall include its position, width, surface finish, lighting, 
signage and any level changes; 
 

ii) To secure an updated Travel Plan and financial payment to 
Hertfordshire County Council of £6,000 for the long term monitoring of 
the Travel Plan for the site; 

 
iii) To secure a financial payment of £600,000 to Hertfordshire County 

Council towards bus services in the vicinity of the hospital; 
  

iv) To secure a financial payment of £250,000 to Hertfordshire County 
Council for the improvements along Thomas Sawyer Way; and  

 
v) To secure a financial payment of £150,000 to Watford Borough Council 

for improvements to pedestrian and cycling routes to the hospital. 
 

ADDITIONAL CONSULTEE COMMENTS  
 
Hertfordshire Highways – Comments of 23rd July 2021 confirm no objection to the 
application subject to conditions and S106 contributions to sustainable transport.  
 
ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS 
 
29. Materials Panel 

Construction of the superstructure shall not commence until: 
a) Full details of the materials to be used for all the external surfaces have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
and  
b) Sample panels have been constructed on site to show the typical facades 
including panelling, window frames and glazing, and have made available for 
inspection and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the building and the 
character and appearance of the area, in accordance with Policy UD1 of the 
Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31. 
 
 

Page 95



30.  Access 
No development shall commence until full details (in the form of scaled plans 
and / or written specifications) have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority to illustrate the following:  
i) Roads, footways.  
ii) Cycleways.  
iii) Foul and surface water drainage. 
iv) Visibility splay  
v) Access arrangements  
vi) Parking provision.  
vii) Loading areas.  
viii) Turning areas.  
Reason: To ensure suitable, safe and satisfactory planning and development of 
the site in accordance with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan 
(adopted 2018) 

 
31. Vehicular access 

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted the 
vehicular access shall be completed and thereafter retained as shown on 
drawing number(s) (20175/019 Rev A, 20175/026 Rev C, 20175/027 Rev A and 
WHHT-BDP-WGH-00_DR-T-20140 Rev C01) in accordance with 
details/specifications to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Prior to use appropriate arrangements shall be made for 
surface water to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not 
discharge from or onto the highway carriageway.  
 
Reason: To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of 
extraneous material or surface water from or onto the highway in accordance 
with Policy 5 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
32.  General Vehicle Through Route Closure  

Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby permitted 
general vehicle through routes via the hospital between Vicarage Road, 
Willow Lane and Thomas Sawyer Way will be closed to general traffic.  
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and in the 
interests of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies 5 and 7 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
AMENDED CONDITIONS 
 
5.  Construction Environment Management plans 

No development shall commence until a Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

Page 96



including elements of the CLOCS standards as set out in the Highway 
Authority’s Construction Management template. Thereafter the construction 
of the development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Plan: The Construction Management Plan / Statement shall include details of:  
a. Construction vehicle numbers, type, routing;  
b. Access arrangements to the site;  
c. Traffic management requirements  
d. Construction and storage compounds (including areas designated for car 
parking, loading / unloading and turning areas);  
e. Siting and details of wheel washing facilities;  
f. Cleaning of site entrances, site tracks and the adjacent public highway;  
g. Timing of construction activities (including delivery times and removal of 
waste) and to avoid school pick up/drop off times;  
h. Provision of sufficient on-site parking prior to commencement of 
construction activities;  
i. Post construction restoration/reinstatement of the working areas and 
temporary access to the public highway;  
j. where works cannot be contained wholly within the site a plan should be 
submitted showing the site layout on the highway including extent of 
hoarding, pedestrian routes and remaining road width for vehicle movements;  
k. Phasing Plan. 
 
Reason: In order to protect highway safety and the amenity of other users of 
the public highway and rights of way in accordance with Policies 5, 12, 17 and 
22 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
9. Energy Statement 

i) Prior to the commencement of development, an Energy Statement in 
accordance with the targets and objectives set out in the Energy 
Statement shall be submitted to an approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

ii) Prior to occupation, evidence demonstrating that the approved 
measures have been implemented, together with detail of ongoing 
management and maintenance to ensure the measures continue to 
achieve the predicted CO2 emissions reduction shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure the development contributes to minimising the effects of, 
and can adapt to a changing climate. 

 
11. Slow-worm Translocation 

Prior to commencement of development within the donor area indicated in 
‘Slow Worm Translocation Strategy V01’ drawing, the Translocation Strategy 

Page 97



for slow-worms as detailed in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment Rev C02 
[WHHT-BDP-WGH-XX-RP-T-00112] shall be implemented.  
 
Reason: In order to prevent the inadvertent killing of slow‐worms of which 
there was one found under the Preliminary Ecological Assessment.  
 

14. Maximum Heights  
All Reserved Matters applications shall accord with the approved Parameter 
Plan for Maximum Height as follows: 
i) No part of the building, with the exception of flues and roof top plant, 

shall exceed the maximum heights of the development as detailed in 
the Maximum Height Parameter Plan; 

ii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approves an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +150m AOD for up to 60% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +112m AOD; and 

iii) Where the Maximum Height Parameter Plan approved an area of 
building up to a maximum height of +112m AOD for up to 75% of the 
area, the remainder of the building in this area shall not exceed a 
maximum height of +90m AOD. 

 
Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt in respect of the maximum building 
heights approved. 

 
15.  Appearance  

Any application in respect of reserved matter (a) ‘Appearance’ shall include 
details of all matters of appearance including, but not limited to, the 
following: 
i) All plant and equipment including gas storage, roof plant, PV, cleaning 

cradles, lift overruns, railing, flues, vents and telecommunication 
equipment and any associated mitigation to avoid noise impacts; 

ii) Bridge links which shall have a transparency of 60-80% on elevations; 
iii) Entrances and Active Frontages, as identified on the Parameter Plan for 

Frontages and Spaces, to include shopfronts and direct accesses to 
ancillary retail units; 

iv) How the design of the building responds to micro-climate issues such as 
wind and sun, including any screening or mitigation to prevent adverse 
wind impact or overheating 

 
20. BREEAM Excellent 

Within 6 months of first occupation the final post construction BREEAM 
certificate(s) indicating that a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating has been achieved 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority and approved in writing.  

Page 98



 
Reason: To ensure the development incorporates sustainable design and 
construction methodology as detailed in the application documents.   

 
21. Travel Plan 

At least 3 months prior to the first occupation or use of the approved 
development a detailed Travel Plan for the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Travel Plan 
shall be implemented in accordance with the timetable and target contained 
therein and shall continue to be implemented unless otherwise approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable modes of travel in accordance with Policy T3 
of the Watford Local Plan Core Strategy 2006-31 and policies 3, 5, 7, 8, 9 and 
10 of Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018). 

 
 
Item 5: 21/00218/FUL 91-93 King George’s Avenue, Watford WD18 7QE 
  
AMENDMENT TO REPORT: 
 
Para 6.23 of the Committee Report is incorrect.  

 
To confirm, there is a landing window to the end wall of No. 95 King George’s Avenue 
which provides daylight to the staircase and unobstructed views out. Officer has assessed 
this window and given that it is an opening to a non-habitable space (i.e. a landing area), 
the proposal is not considered to result in a materially harmful impact to neighbouring 
light.  
 
CLARIFICATION OF APPENDIX: 

 
Following the formal assessment of the application by officers, a CGI illustrating the side 
elevation of the proposed building was submitted. This CGI was submitted at the request 
of planning officers to serve as supplementary material for Members to be presented at 
Committee. However, it is since noted by officers that this side-view CGI is not accurate 
and should, therefore, be disregarded by Members.  
 
ADDITIONAL CONDITION: 
 
One condition is added to ensure that the parking facilities contain 1no. electric charging 
point in order to provide sustainable transport infrastructure. The applicant has agreed 
to the addition of this condition.  

 

Page 99



14.  Electric Vehicle Charging 
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted, the parking area 
shall provide for 1no. active electric vehicle charging point and details of the type 
and specification of electric vehicle charging infrastructure, the energy sources 
and the strategy/management plan for supply and maintenance of the electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The electric vehicle charging infrastructure shall be 
installed in accordance with the approved details prior to occupation of each of 
the units and permanently maintained and retained. 

 
Reason: To ensure construction of a satisfactory development and to promote 
sustainable development in accordance with Policies 5, 19 and 20 of 
Hertfordshire’s Local Transport Plan (adopted 2018).” 

 
AMENDED CONDTION: 

 
Existing condition No. 3 to be amended to include reference to the maintenance of 
appropriate facilities for the storage and collection of refuse for the residents of Hanover 
Court and continued provision of a safe means of access during construction works, and 
to also provide explicit reference to the erection and maintenance of site hoarding 
around the site to protect neighbouring resident’s amenity.  

 
The amended wording of this recommended condition is as follows (shown in bold 
italics): 
 
3. Construction Management Plan  

No development on site shall commence until a construction management 
plan setting out details of any demolition works, removal of materials from 
site, parking for all contractors, subcontractors, visitors and delivery vehicles, 
appropriate site perimeter hoarding to protect neighbouring amenity, 
storage of materials, maintenance of appropriate temporary refuse storage 
facilities for Hanover Court during the construction process and to ensure 
that King George’s Avenue and the access road to the car parking area and 
private garages shall be maintained available for use at all times during the 
period of site works, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be implemented at all times 
during development works. 

  
Reason: To minimise danger, obstruction and inconvenience to users of the 
highway, and for the free and safe movement of vehicles. This is a pre-
commencement condition to ensure that the proposed measures during 
construction are satisfactory and are agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
before construction commences. 

Page 100


	Agenda
	4 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB
	Appendix 1 for 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB
	Appendix 2 for 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB
	Appendix 3 for 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB
	Appendix 4 for 21/00765/OUTM Watford General Hospital  Vicarage Road Watford WD18 0HB


